

# Exponential Time Decay of Solutions to Reaction-Cross-Diffusion Systems of Maxwell–Stefan Type

Esther S. Daus, Ansgar Jüngel & Bao Quoc Tang

Communicated by C. MOUHOT

# Abstract

The large-time asymptotics of weak solutions to Maxwell–Stefan diffusion systems for chemically reacting fluids with different molar masses and reversible reactions are investigated. The diffusion matrix of the system is generally neither symmetric nor positive definite, but the equations admit a formal gradient-flow structure which provides entropy (free energy) estimates. The main result is the exponential decay to the unique equilibrium with a rate that is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality. The key elements of the proof are the existence of a unique detailed-balance equilibrium and the derivation of an inequality relating the entropy and the entropy production. The main difficulty comes from the fact that the reactions are represented by molar fractions while the conservation laws hold for the concentrations. The idea is to enlarge the space of *n* partial concentrations by adding the total concentration, viewed as an independent variable, thus working with n + 1 variables. Further results concern the existence of global bounded weak solutions to the parabolic system and an extension of the results to complex-balance systems.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	1060
	1.1. Model Equations	1060
	1.2. State of the Art	1062

We would like to thank the referees for helpful comments and suggestions, which help to improve the presentation of this paper. The first and second authors acknowledge partial support from the Austrian Science Fund (FWF), Grants P27352, P30000, F65, and W1245. The last author was partially supported by the International Research Training Group IGDK 1754 and NAWI Graz. This work was carried out during the visit of the first author to the University of Graz and of the third author to the Vienna University of Technology. The hospitality of the universities is greatly acknowledged.

1.3. Key Ideas	1063	
1.4. Main Results	1065	
1.5. Notation	1068	
2. Global Existence of Weak Solutions	1068	
2.1. Preliminary Results	1069	
2.2. Solution to an Approximate Problem	1070	
2.3. Uniform Estimates	1070	
3. Convergence to Equilibrium Under Detailed Balance	1072	
3.1. Conservation Laws	1072	
3.2. Detailed-Balance Condition	1073	
3.3. Preliminary Estimates for the Entropy and Entropy Production	1078	
3.4. The Case of Equal Homogeneities	1081	
3.5. The Case of Unequal Homogeneities	1083	
3.6. Proof of Theorem 1	1089	
4. Example: A Specific Reaction	1090	
5. Convergence to Equilibrium for Complex-Balance Systems		
Appendix A. Proof of Lemma 21		
References		

#### 1. Introduction

The analysis of the large-time behavior of dynamical networks is important to the understanding of their stability properties. Of particular interest are reversible chemical reactions interacting with diffusion. While there is a vast literature on the large-time asymptotics of reaction–diffusion systems, much less is available for reaction systems with cross-diffusion terms. Such systems arise naturally in multicomponent fluid modeling and population dynamics [38]. In this paper, we prove the exponential decay of solutions to reaction-cross-diffusion systems of Maxwell–Stefan form by combining recent techniques for cross-diffusion systems [37] and reaction–diffusion equations [25]. The main feature of our result is that the decay rate is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality and that the result holds for detailed-balance or complex-balance systems.

#### 1.1. Model Equations

We consider a fluid consisting of *n* constituents  $A_i$  with mass densities  $\rho_i(z, t)$  and molar masses  $M_i$ , which are diffusing according to the diffusive fluxes  $j_i(z, t)$  and reacting in the following reversible reactions:

$$\alpha_1^a A_1 + \dots + \alpha_n^a A_n \rightleftharpoons \beta_1^a A_1 + \dots + \beta_n^a A_n$$
 for  $a = 1, \dots, N$ ,

where  $\alpha_i^a$  and  $\beta_i^a$  are the stoichiometric coefficients. The evolution of the fluid is assumed to be governed by partial mass balances with Maxwell–Stefan relations for the diffusive fluxes

$$\partial_t \rho_i + \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{j}_i = r_i(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad \nabla x_i = -\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\rho_j \boldsymbol{j}_i - \rho_i \boldsymbol{j}_j}{c^2 M_i M_j D_{ij}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \quad (1)$$

$\overline{\rho_i}$	: partial mass density of the <i>i</i> th species
$\rho = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i$	: total mass density
$j_i$	: partial particle flux of the <i>i</i> th species
$\dot{M_i}$	: molar mass of the <i>i</i> th species
$c_i = \rho_i / M_i$	: partial concentration of the <i>i</i> th species
$c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i$	: total concentration
$x_i = c_i/c$	: molar fraction

Table 1. Overview of the physical quantities

where  $x_i = c_i/c$  are the molar fractions,  $c_i = \rho_i/M_i$  the partial concentrations,  $M_i$  the molar masses,  $c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i$  the total concentration, and  $D_{ij} = D_{ji} > 0$  are the diffusivities. The physical quantities are summarized in Table 1. The reactions are described by the mass production terms  $r_i$  depending on  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$  using mass-action kinetics:

$$r_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = M_i \sum_{a=1}^N (\beta_i^a - \alpha_i^a) (k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}) \quad \text{with } \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} := \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{\alpha_i^a}, \qquad (2)$$

where  $k_f^a > 0$  and  $k_b^a > 0$  are the forward and backward reaction rate constants, respectively, and  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a = (\alpha_1^a, \dots, \alpha_n^a)$  and  $\boldsymbol{\beta}^a = (\beta_1^a, \dots, \beta_n^a)$  with  $\alpha_i^a, \beta_i^a \in \{0\} \cup [1, \infty)$  are the vectors of the stoichiometric coefficients.

Equations (1) are solved in the bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  ( $d \ge 1$ ) subject to the no-flux boundary and initial conditions

$$\boldsymbol{j}_i \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega, \quad \rho_i(\cdot, 0) = \rho_i^0 \quad \text{in } \Omega, \ i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (3)

To simplify, we assume that  $\Omega$  has unit measure, i.e.  $|\Omega| = 1$ .

System (1)–(2) models a multicomponent fluid in an isothermal regime with vanishing barycentric velocity. The Maxwell-Stefan diffusion system models diffusive transport of multicomponent diffusion and was first introduced by MAXWELL [42] and STEFAN [52]. Since then, the range of applications goes from respiratory airways [8] to dialysis, electrolysis, sedimentation, ion exchange or ultrafiltration [54,57]. Equation (1) for  $\nabla x_i$  can be derived from the Boltzmann equations for mixtures in the diffusive limit and with well-prepared initial conditions [9,35,36] or from the reduced force balances with the partial momentum productions being proportional to the partial velocity differences [6, Section 14]. It can also be derived from a kinetic model of a reacting sphere system [3] or by careful exploitation of the entropy principle [6, Sections 7–8]. Concerning the isothermal regime, we remark that, even though the chemical reactions usually modify the temperature of the system, there exist situations in which a heat bath is sufficiently efficient for keeping the whole system at the same temperature. For more details, we refer the interested reader to, e.g., the invention [56], which designs an engine for compressing gaseous fluids isothermally. Moreover, our analysis of the isothermal case can be used as a starting point in investigating more complex, non-isothermal systems. We assume that the total mass is conserved and that the mixture is at rest, i.e.,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i = 1$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} j_i = 0$ . This implies that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i(\mathbf{x}) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+, \tag{4}$$

where  $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$ . Furthermore, we assume that the system of reactions satisfies a detailed-balance condition, meaning that there exists a positive homogeneous equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that

$$k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\alpha^a} = k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a} \quad \text{for all } a = 1, \dots, N.$$
(5)

Roughly speaking, a system is under detailed balance if any forward reaction is balanced by the corresponding backward reaction at equilibrium. Condition (5) does not give a unique but instead a manifold of detailed-balance equilibria,

$$\mathcal{E} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} : \, k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{a^{a}} = k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}} \quad \text{for all } a = 1, \dots, N \right\}.$$
(6)

To uniquely identify the detailed-balance equilibrium, we need to take into account the conservation laws (meaning that certain linear combinations of the concentrations are constant in time). This is discussed in detail below. We are also able to consider complex-balance systems; see Section 5.

The aim of this paper is to prove that under these conditions, there exists a unique positive detailed-balance (or complex-balance) equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} = (x_{1\infty}, \dots, x_{n\infty}) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^n \|x_i(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \leqslant C(\boldsymbol{x}^0, \boldsymbol{x}_\infty) e^{-\lambda t/(2p)}, \quad t > 0, \ p \ge 1,$$

where  $x^0 = x(0)$  and the constant  $\lambda > 0$  is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality. Before we make this result precise, we review the state of the art and explain the main difficulties and key ideas.

# 1.2. State of the Art

The research of the large-time asymptotics of general reaction–diffusion systems with diagonal diffusion, modeling chemical reactions has experienced dramatic scientific progress in recent years. One reason for this progress is due to new developments of so-called entropy methods. Classical methods include linearized stability techniques, spectral theory, invariant region arguments, and Lyapunov stability; see, e.g., [15,26]. The entropy method is a genuinely nonlinear approach without using any kind of linearization; it is rather robust against model variations, and it is able to provide explicitly computable decay rates. The first related works date back to the 1980s [29,30]. The obtained results are restricted to two space dimensions and do not provide explicit estimates, since the proofs are based on contradiction arguments. First applications of the entropy method that provide explicit rates and constants were concerned with particular cases, like two-component systems [17], four-component systems [19], or multicomponent linear systems [20]. Later, nonlinear reaction networks with an arbitrary number of chemical substances were considered [24,43]. Exponential convergence of close-to-equilibrium solutions to quadratic reaction–diffusion systems with detailed balance was shown in [10]. reaction–diffusion systems without detailed balance [23] and with complex balance [18,44,53] were also thoroughly investigated. The convergence to equilibrium was proven for rather general solution concepts, like very weak solutions [46] and renormalized solutions [25].

The large-time behavior of solutions to cross-diffusion systems is less studied. The convergence to equilibrium was shown for the Shigesada–Kawasaki–Teramoto population model with Lotka–Volterra terms in [50,55] without any rate and in [11] without reaction terms. The exponential decay of solutions to volume-filling population systems, again without reaction terms, was proved in [58].

A number of articles are concerned with the large-time asymptotics in Maxwell– Stefan systems. For global existence results on these systems, we refer to [31, 40,41]. In [40], the exponential decay to the homogeneous state is shown with vanishing reaction rates and same molar masses. The result was generalized to different molar masses in [12], but still without reaction terms. The convergence to equilibrium was proved in [27, Theorem 9.7.4] and [31, Theorem 4.3] under the condition that the initial datum is close to the equilibrium state. The work [31] also addresses the exponential convergence to a homogeneous equilibrium assuming (i) global existence of strong solutions and (ii) uniform-in-time strict positivity of the solutions (see Prop. 4.4 therein). A similar result, but for two-phase systems, was proved in [7]. The novelty in our paper is that we also provide a global existence proof (which avoids assumption (i)) and that we replace the strong assumption (ii) by a natural condition on the reactions, namely that there exist no equilibria on  $\partial \mathbb{R}^n_+$ . We note that there exists a large class of chemical reaction networks, called *concordant networks*, which possess no boundary equilibria [51, Theorem 2.8(ii)].

We finally remark that the mathematical study of the Maxwell–Stefan diffusion system is a dynamic field, and many works have been carried out after the submission of our paper. We refer the interested reader to the incomplete list [2,3,14,34,39,47,48] of recent works.

# 1.3. Key Ideas

The analysis of the Maxwell–Stefan equations (1) is rather delicate. The first difficulty is that the fluxes are not given as linear combinations of the gradients of the mass fractions, which makes it necessary to invert the flux-gradient relations in (1). However, summing the equations for  $\nabla x_i$  in (1) for i = 1, ..., n, we see that the Maxwell–Stefan equations are linear dependent, and we need to invert them on a subspace [5]. The idea is to work with the n - 1 variables  $\boldsymbol{\rho}' = (\rho_1, ..., \rho_{n-1})^{\top}$  by setting  $\rho_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i$ , i.e., the mass density of the last component (often the solvent) is computed from the other mass densities. Then there exists a diffusion matrix  $\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{\rho}') \in \mathbb{R}^{(n-1)\times(n-1)}$  such that system (1) can be written as

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\rho}' - \operatorname{div}(\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{\rho}') \nabla \boldsymbol{x}') = \boldsymbol{r}'(\boldsymbol{x}), \tag{7}$$

where  $\mathbf{x}' = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})^{\top}$  and  $\mathbf{r}' = (r_1, \ldots, r_{n-1})^{\top}$ . The matrix  $\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{\rho}')$  is generally neither symmetric nor positive definite. However, equations (7) exhibit a formal gradient-flow structure [40]. This means that we introduce the so-called (relative) entropy density

$$h(\rho') = c \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}}, \text{ where } \rho_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i,$$
 (8)

and the entropy variable  $\boldsymbol{w} = (w_1, \dots, w_{n-1})^\top$  with  $w_i = \partial h / \partial \rho_i$ . Here,  $\boldsymbol{x}_\infty \in \mathcal{E}$  is an arbitrary detailed-balance equilibrium. We associate to the entropy density the relative entropy (or free energy)

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] = \int_{\Omega} h(\boldsymbol{\rho}') dz = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} c x_{i} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} dz.$$
(9)

Denoting by  $h''(\rho')$  the Hessian of *h* with respect to  $\rho'$ , equation (7) is equivalent to

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\rho}' - \operatorname{div}(\mathbb{B}(\boldsymbol{w}) \nabla \boldsymbol{w}) = \boldsymbol{r}'(\boldsymbol{x}), \tag{10}$$

where  $\mathbb{B}(\boldsymbol{w}) = \mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{\rho}')h''(\boldsymbol{\rho}')^{-1}$  is symmetric and positive definite [12, Lemma 10 (iv)] and  $\boldsymbol{\rho}'$  and  $\boldsymbol{x}$  are functions of  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . The elliptic operator can be formulated as  $\mathbb{K} \operatorname{grad} h(\boldsymbol{\rho}')$ , where  $\mathbb{K} \boldsymbol{\xi} = \operatorname{div}(\mathbb{B}\nabla \boldsymbol{\xi})$  is the Onsager operator and grad is the functional derivative. This formulation motivates the notion "gradient-flow structure".

The second difficulty comes from the fact that the cross-diffusion coupling prevents the use of standard tools like maximum principles and regularity theory. In particular, it is not clear how to prove lower and upper bounds for the mass densities or molar fractions. Surprisingly, this problem can be also solved by the transformation to entropy variables. Indeed, the mapping  $(0, 1)^{n-1} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ ,  $\rho' \mapsto w$ , can be inverted, and the image  $\rho'(w)$  lies in  $(0, 1)^{n-1}$  and satisfies  $1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i < 1$ . If all molar masses are equal,  $M = M_i$ , the inverse function can be written explicitly as  $\rho_i(w) = \exp(Mw_i)(1 + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \exp(Mw_j))^{-1}$ ; for the general case, see Lemma 5 below. This yields the positivity and  $L^{\infty}$  bounds for  $\rho_i$  without the use of a maximum principle. To make this argument rigorous, we first need to solve (10) for w and then to conclude that  $\rho' = \rho'(w)$  solves (1).

Summarizing, the entropy helps us to "symmetrize" system (1) and to derive  $L^{\infty}$  bounds. There is a further benefit: the entropy is a Lyapunov functional along solutions to the detailed-balance system (1). Indeed, a formal computation shows the following relation (a weaker discrete version is made rigorous in the proof of Theorem 4):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] + D[\boldsymbol{x}] = 0, \quad t > 0, \tag{11}$$

where the entropy production

$$D[\boldsymbol{x}] = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n-1} \int_{\Omega} B_{ij}(\boldsymbol{w}) \nabla w_i \cdot \nabla w_j dz + \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}) \ln \frac{k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a}}{k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}} dz$$
(12)

is nonnegative (due to Lemmas 6 and 7). Here,  $B_{ij}$  are the coefficients of the matrix  $\mathbb{B}$ . Exponential decay follows if the entropy entropy-production inequality

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge \lambda E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \tag{13}$$

holds for all suitable functions x and for some  $\lambda > 0$ . Note that this functional inequality does not hold for all detailed-balance equilibria, but only for those who satisfy certain conservation laws. The existence and uniqueness of such equilibria is proved in Theorem 11. Inserting inequality (13) into (11) yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] + \lambda E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leqslant 0, \quad t > 0,$$

and Gronwall's inequality allows us to conclude that

$$E[\mathbf{x}(t)|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \leqslant E[\mathbf{x}(0)|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]e^{-\lambda t}, \quad t > 0.$$

By a variant of the Csiszár–Kullback–Pinsker inequality (Lemma 18), this gives exponential decay in the  $L^1$  norm with rate  $\lambda/2$  and, by interpolation, in the  $L^p$  norm with rate  $\lambda/(2p)$  for all  $1 \le p < \infty$ . An important feature of this result is that the constant  $\lambda$  is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality.

The cornerstone of the convergence to equilibrium is to prove inequality (13). In comparison to previous results for reaction–diffusion systems, e.g. [24,43], the difference here is that the reactions are defined in terms of molar fractions, while the conservation laws are written in terms of concentrations. This difference causes the main difficulty in proving (13), except in very special cases, e.g., when all molar masses are equal (in this case, the molar fraction and concentration are proportional) or in case of equal homogeneities (see Section 3.4). Naturally, one could express the molar fractions by the concentrations, i.e.  $x_i = c_i/(\sum_{i=1}^n c_i)$ , but this extremely complicates the formulation of the entropy production  $D[\mathbf{x}]$ , which in turn makes the analysis of (13) inaccessible. The key idea here is to introduce the total concentration  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i$  as an independent variable and to rewrite  $D[\mathbf{x}]$  in terms of  $c_i$  and c, allows us to adapt the ideas from previous works on reaction–diffusion systems to finally obtain the desired inequality (13).

# 1.4. Main Results

Our main result is the exponential convergence to equilibrium. For this, we need to show some intermediate results. The existence of solutions to (1), (3) was shown in [12] without reaction terms. Therefore, we prove the global existence of bounded weak solutions to (1), (3) with reaction terms (2). The proof follows that one in [12] but the estimates related to the reaction terms are different. A key step is the proof of the monotonicity of  $\boldsymbol{w} \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\boldsymbol{x})$ ; see Lemma 7.

Second, we derive the conservation laws satisfied by the solutions to (1) (Lemma 9) and prove the existence of a positive detailed-balance equilibrium  $x_{\infty}$  satisfying (5) and the conservation laws (Theorem 11). The existence of unique equilibrium states for chemical reaction networks is well studied in the literature (see, e.g.,

[21]), but not in the present framework. One difficulty is the additional constraint  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = 1$ , which significantly complicates the analysis. The key idea for the existence of a unique detailed-balance equilibrium is to analyze systems in the partial concentrations  $c_1, \ldots, c_n$  and the total concentration c, considered as an independent variable. The increase of the dimension of the system from n to n + 1 allows us to apply geometric arguments and a result of FEINBERG [21] to achieve the claim.

Third, we prove the entropy entropy-production inequality (13) (Prop. 19 and 26). The proof follows basically from [25, Lemma 2.7] when the stoichiometric coefficients satisfy  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^a = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i^a$  for all a = 1, ..., N, since this property allows us to replace the molar fractions  $x_i$  by the concentrations  $c_i$ . If the property is not fulfilled, we work again in the augmented space of concentrations  $(c_1, ..., c_n, c)$ . One step of the proof (Lemma 22) requires the proof of an inequality whose constant is constructive only up to a finite-dimensional inequality. We believe that for concrete systems, this constant can be computed in a constructive way. We present such an example in Section 4.

Before stating the main theorem, we need some notation. Let

$$\mathbb{W} = (\boldsymbol{\beta}^a - \boldsymbol{\alpha}^a)_{a=1,\dots,N} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times N}$$

be the Wegscheider matrix (or stoichiometric coefficients matrix) and set  $m = \dim \ker(\mathbb{W}^{\top}) > 0$ . We choose a matrix  $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  whose rows form a basis of  $\ker(\mathbb{W}^{\top})$ . Let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  be the initial mass vector, which depends on  $c^0$  (see Lemma 9) and let  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  be a row vector satisfying  $\zeta \mathbb{Q} = (M_1, \ldots, M_n)$  and  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . We show in Lemma 10 that such a vector  $\zeta$  always exists. Its appearance comes from the constraint  $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = 1$ ; such a vector is not needed in reaction–diffusion systems like in [25]. Given  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ , we prove in Section 3.2 that there exists a unique positive *detailed-balance equilibrium*  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$  satisfying

$$\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{c}_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{M}^{0}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i\infty} = 1, \tag{14}$$

where the components of  $c_{\infty}$  are given by  $c_{i\infty} = x_{i\infty} / \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i x_{i\infty}$ . The first expression in (14) are the conservation laws, while the second one is the normalization condition.

Note that besides the unique positive detailed-balance equilibrium (for a fixed initial mass vector), there could exist possibly infinitely many *boundary equilibria*, i.e.  $x^* \in \partial \mathcal{E}$  such that  $x^*$  solves (14). We need to exclude such equilibria. For a discussion of boundary equilibria and the Global Attractor Conjecture, we refer to Remark 15.

- (A1) Data:  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  with  $d \ge 1$  is a bounded domain with Lipschitz boundary, T > 0, and  $D_{ij} = D_{ji} > 0$  for  $i, j = 1, ..., n, i \ne j$ .
- (A2) Detailed-balance condition:  $\mathcal{E} \neq \emptyset$ , where  $\mathcal{E}$  is defined in (6).
- (A3) Initial condition:  $\rho^0 \in L^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\rho_i^0 \ge 0$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i^0 = 1$ , and the initial entropy is finite,  $\int_{\Omega} h(\rho^{0'}) dz < \infty$ , where *h* is defined in (8) with some  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ .

The main result is as follows:

**Theorem 1.** (Convergence to equilibrium) Let Assumptions (A1)–(A3) hold. Let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  be a positive initial mass vector satisfying  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . Then

- (i) There exists a global bounded weak solution  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = (\rho_1, \dots, \rho_n)^\top$  to (1)–(2) in the sense of Theorem 4 below;
- (ii) There exists a unique  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$  satisfying (14), where the set of equilibria  $\mathcal{E}$  is defined in (6);
- (iii) Assume in addition that the system (1)–(2) has no boundary equilibria. Then there exist constants C > 0 and  $\lambda > 0$ , which are constructive up to a finitedimensional inequality, such that, if  $\rho^0$  satisfies additionally  $\mathbb{Q} \int_{\Omega} c^0 dz = M^0$ , the following exponential convergence to equilibrium holds:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_i(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \leq C e^{-\lambda t/(2p)} \left( E[\mathbf{x}^0 | \mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \right)^{1/(2p)}, \quad t > 0,$$

where  $1 \leq p < \infty$ ,  $x_i = \rho_i/(cM_i)$  with  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i/M_i$ ,  $E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]$  is the relative entropy defined in (9),  $\boldsymbol{\rho}$  is the solution constructed in (i), and  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty}$  is constructed in (ii).

**Remark 2.** (Classical and weak solustions) Theorem 1(i) provides the global existence of a weak solution with physical initial data, while the local existence of a classical solution, with more regular initial data, was already proved in [5], based on general results on normally elliptic operators. Both the global existence of a classical solution as well as the uniqueness of weak solutions for Maxwell–Stefan reaction-cross-diffusion systems are extremely difficult to prove. On the other hand, a weak-strong uniqueness result might be achievable; see [13] for such a result for a different class of reaction-cross-diffusion systems. We leave this interesting open question to future investigations.

**Remark 3.** (Complex balance)] We show in Theorem 11 that system (1) with the reaction terms (2) possesses a unique positive detailed-balance equilibrium. This means that we have assumed the reversibility of the reaction system. This assumption is rather strong, and it is well known in chemical reaction network theory that it can be significantly generalized to complex-balance systems. Here, the balance is not assumed to hold for any elementary reaction step but only for the total in-flow and total out-flow of each chemical complex. We are able to extend our results to this situation as well, considering the reaction terms (54); see Theorem 33 in Section 5.

Clearly, any detailed-balance equilibrium is also a complex-balance equilibrium, and Theorem 1 is included in Theorem 33. However, to make the proofs as accessible as possible, we prefer to present the detailed-balance case in full detail and sketch the extension to complex-balance systems.  $\Box$ 

The paper is organized as follows: Part (i) of Theorem 1 is proved in Section 2. In Section 3, the conservation laws are derived, the existence of a detailed-balance equilibrium and the entropy entropy-production inequality (13) are proved, and

the convergence result is shown. Section 4 is concerned with a specific example for which the constant in the entropy entropy-production inequality can be computed explicitly. The results are extended to complex-balance systems in Section 5. Finally, we prove the technical Lemma 21 in the appendix.

# 1.5. Notation

We use the following notation:

- Bold letters indicate vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (e.g.  $\boldsymbol{c} = (c_1, \ldots, c_n)^\top$ ).
- Normal letters denote the sum of all the components of the corresponding letter in bold font (e.g.  $c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i$ ).
- Primed bold letters signify that the last component is removed from the original vector (e.g.  $c' = (c_1, ..., c_{n-1})^\top$ ).
- Overlined letters usually denote integration over  $\Omega$  (e.g.  $\overline{c} = \int_{\Omega} c dz$  or  $\overline{c_i} =$  $\int_{\Omega} c_i dz$ ).
- If  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a function and  $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$  a vector, the expression f(c) denotes the vector  $(f(c_1), \ldots, f(c_n))^{\top}$ .
- Let x, α ∈ (0, ∞)<sup>n</sup>. The expression x<sup>α</sup> equals the product ∏<sub>i=1</sub><sup>n</sup> x<sub>i</sub><sup>α<sub>i</sub></sup>.
  Matrices are generally denoted by double-barred capital letters (e.g. A ∈ ℝ<sup>m×n</sup>).

The inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ ,  $|\Omega|$  is the measure of  $\Omega$ , and we set  $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$ . In the estimates, C > 0 denotes a generic constant with values changing from line to line.

# 2. Global Existence of Weak Solutions

We prove part (i) of Theorem 1. Throughout this section, we fix an arbitrary detailed-balance equilibrium  $x_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ . Due to (A2), such a vector  $x_{\infty}$  always exists. The existence result is stated more precisely in the following theorem:

Theorem 4. (Global existence) Let Assumptions (A1)-(A3) hold. Then there exists a bounded weak solution  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = (\rho_1, \dots, \rho_n)^{\top}$  to (1)–(3) satisfying  $\rho_i \ge 0$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i = 1$  in  $\Omega \times (0, T)$  and

$$\rho_i \in L^2(0, T; H^1(\Omega)), \ \partial_t \rho_i \in L^2(0, T; H^1(\Omega)'), \ i = 1, \dots, n,$$

*i.e.*, for all  $q_1, \ldots, q_{n-1} \in L^2(0, T; H^1(\Omega))$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \int_0^T \langle \partial_t \rho_i, q_i \rangle \mathrm{d}t + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n-1} \int_0^T \int_\Omega A_{ij}(\boldsymbol{\rho}') \nabla x_i \cdot \nabla q_j \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}t = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \int_0^T \int_\Omega r_i(\boldsymbol{x}) q_i \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}t,$$
(15)

where  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^{\top}, x_i = \rho_i / (cM_i)$  for  $i = 1, \dots, n-1, x_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i,$  $c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i / M_i$ , and  $\mathbb{A} = (A_{ij})$  is the diffusion matrix in (7).

The proof is similar to the one given in [12]. Since in that paper no reaction terms have been considered, we need to show how these terms can be controlled. First, we collect some results.

#### 2.1. Preliminary Results

A straightforward computation (see [12, Lemma 5]) shows that the entropy variables are given by

$$w_i = \frac{\partial h}{\partial \rho_i} = \frac{1}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}} - \frac{1}{M_n} \ln \frac{x_n}{x_{n\infty}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(16)

recalling *h* defined in (8). Given  $\boldsymbol{\rho}' = (\rho_1, \dots, \rho_{n-1})^{\top}$ , this formula and the relation  $x_i = \rho_i / (cM_i)$  allow us to compute  $\boldsymbol{w} = (w_1, \dots, w_{n-1})^{\top}$ . The following lemma states that the mapping  $\boldsymbol{\rho}' \mapsto \boldsymbol{w}$  can be inverted:

**Lemma 5.** Let  $\boldsymbol{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1})^\top \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  be given. Then there exists a unique vector  $\boldsymbol{\rho}' = (\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{n-1})^\top \in (0, 1)^{n-1}$  satisfying  $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i < 1$  such that (16) holds with  $\rho_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i > 0$ ,  $x_i = \rho_i / (cM_i)$  and  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i / M_i$ . Moreover, the function  $\boldsymbol{\rho}' : \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \to (0, 1)^{n-1}$ ,  $(w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1})^\top \mapsto \boldsymbol{\rho}'(w) = (\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{n-1})^\top$  is bounded.

**Proof.** First, we show that there exists a unique vector  $(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})^{\top} \in (0, 1)^{n-1}$  satisfying (16) with  $x_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i > 0$  (see [12, Lemma 6]). Let  $z_i := x_{i\infty}/x_{n\infty}^{M_i/M_n}$ . The function

$$f(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} z_i (1-s)^{M_i/M_n} \exp(M_i w_i)$$

is strictly decreasing in [0, 1] and  $0 = f(1) < f(s) < f(0) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \exp(M_i w_i) z_i$ . Thus, there exists a unique fixed point  $s_0 \in (0, 1)$  such that  $f(s_0) = s_0$ . Defining  $x_i = z_i (1 - s_0)^{M_i/M_n} \exp(M_i w_i)$  for i = 1, ..., n-1, we infer that  $x_i > 0$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i = f(s_0) = s_0 < 1$ , and (16) holds with  $x_n := 1 - s_0$ .

Next, let  $(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})^{\top} \in (0, 1)^{n-1}$  and  $x_n := 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} x_i > 0$  be given and define  $\rho_i = cM_i x_i$ , where  $c = 1/(\sum_{i=1}^n M_i x_i)$ . Then  $(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{n-1})^{\top} \in (0, 1)^{n-1}$  is the unique vector satisfying  $\rho_n = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \rho_i > 0$ ,  $x_i = \rho_i/(cM_i)$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ , and  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i/M_i$  [12, Lemma 7]. Finally, the result follows by combining the previous steps.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 6.** Let  $w \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ . Then there exists a constant  $C_B > 0$ , which only depends on  $D_{ij}$  and  $M_i$ , such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{w} : \mathbb{B}(\boldsymbol{w}) \nabla \boldsymbol{w} \mathrm{d} z \geq C_B \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d} z,$$

where ":" means summation over both matrix indices.

We recall that  $\mathbb{B}(w) = \mathbb{A}(\rho')h''(\rho')^{-1}$  and h'' is the Hessian of the entropy *h* defined in (8). Lemma 6 is proved in [12, Lemma 12]. It is shown in [12, Lemma 9] that  $\mathbb{B}$  is symmetric and positive definite.

#### 2.2. Solution to an Approximate Problem

Let  $T > 0, M \in \mathbb{N}, \tau = T/M, k \in \{1, ..., M\}, \varepsilon > 0$ , and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  with l > d/2. Then the embedding  $H^{l}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is compact. Given  $\boldsymbol{w}^{k-1} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ , we wish to find  $\boldsymbol{w}^{k} \in H^{l}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$  such that

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \int_{\Omega} \left( \boldsymbol{\rho}'(\boldsymbol{w}^{k}) - \boldsymbol{\rho}'(\boldsymbol{w}^{k-1}) \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{q} \, \mathrm{d}z + \int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{q} : \mathbb{B}(\boldsymbol{w}^{k}) \nabla \boldsymbol{w}^{k} \, \mathrm{d}z + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|=l} D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{w}^{k} : D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{q} + \boldsymbol{w}^{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{q} \right) \mathrm{d}z = \int_{\Omega} \boldsymbol{r}'(\boldsymbol{x}^{k}) \cdot \boldsymbol{q} \, \mathrm{d}z$$
(17)

for all  $\boldsymbol{q} \in H^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ , where  $\boldsymbol{r}' = (r_1, \ldots, r_{n-1})^\top$ ,  $x_i^k = \rho_i(\boldsymbol{w}^k)/(cM_i)$ , and  $\boldsymbol{\rho}'(\boldsymbol{w}^k)$  is defined in Lemma 5. Moreover,  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_d) \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$  is a multiindex of order  $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_d = l$  and  $D^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = \partial^{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|}/(\partial z_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial z_d^{\alpha_d})$  is a partial derivative of order *l*. The regularization with the *l*th-order derivative terms is needed since the matrix  $\mathbb{B}$  is not uniformly positive definite. As  $\boldsymbol{\rho}'$  is a bounded function of  $\boldsymbol{w}$ , we can apply the boundedness-by-entropy method of [37] or [12, Section 3.1] to deduce the existence of a weak solution  $\boldsymbol{w}^k \in H^l(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n-1})$  to (17).

## 2.3. Uniform Estimates

The crucial step is to derive some a priori estimates. The idea is to employ the test function  $q = w^k$  in (17) and to proceed as in the proof of Lemma 14 of [12]. The reaction terms have no influence, as the following lemma shows:

Lemma 7. It holds that

$$\boldsymbol{r}'(\boldsymbol{x}^k) \cdot \boldsymbol{w}^k = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\boldsymbol{x}^k) w_i^k \leqslant 0.$$

**Proof.** Let  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}^k$  and  $\mathbf{w} = \mathbf{w}^k$  to simplify. We deduce from (16) and total mass conservation (4) that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\mathbf{x}) = -r_n(\mathbf{x})$  and

$$\mathbf{r}'(\mathbf{x}) \cdot \mathbf{w} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\mathbf{x}) \left( \frac{1}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}} - \frac{1}{M_n} \ln \frac{x_n}{x_{n\infty}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \frac{r_i(\mathbf{x})}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}} - \frac{1}{M_n} \ln \frac{x_n}{x_{n\infty}} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{r_i(\mathbf{x})}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}}.$$
 (18)

In view of definition (2) of  $r_i$  and  $x_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ , the last expression becomes

$$\boldsymbol{r}'(\boldsymbol{x}) \cdot \boldsymbol{w} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{a=1}^{N} (\beta_i^a - \alpha_i^a) (k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}) \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{a=1}^{N} (k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}) \ln \frac{x_i^{\beta_i^a} x_{i\infty}^{\alpha_i^a}}{x_i^{\alpha_i^a} x_{i\infty}^{\beta_i^a}}$$

$$=\sum_{a=1}^{N} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{\boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}} \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{\boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}}$$
$$=\sum_{a=1}^{N} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}}{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}} \leq 0.$$

because of the monotonicity of the logarithm.  $\Box$ 

Taking into account Lemma 7, the estimations of Section 3.2 in [12] lead to the discrete entropy inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} h((\boldsymbol{\rho}')^{k}) dz + C\tau \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\nabla(x_{i}^{j})^{1/2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \tau \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} (-r_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}^{j}) \cdot \boldsymbol{w}^{j}) dz + \varepsilon\tau \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \int_{\Omega} \left( \sum_{|\alpha|=l} (D^{\alpha} w_{i}^{j})^{2} + (w_{i}^{j})^{2} \right) dz \leqslant \int_{\Omega} h((\boldsymbol{\rho}')_{\eta}^{0}) dz,$$
(19)

where  $(\rho')^0_{\eta}$  is the vector of strictly positive approximations of the initial vector  $(\rho^0)' = (\rho^0_1, \dots, \rho^0_{n-1})^\top$  and C > 0 is a generic constant independent of  $\tau$  and  $\varepsilon$ . This shows that

$$\tau \sum_{j=1}^{k} \|x_{i}^{j}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} + \varepsilon \tau \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|w_{i}^{j}\|_{H^{l}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq C, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where C > 0 is independent of  $\varepsilon$  and  $\tau$ . From these estimates and the boundedness of the reaction terms, we infer a uniform bound for the discrete time derivative:

$$\tau \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left\| \tau^{-1} (\rho_i^k - \rho_i^{k-1}) \right\|_{H^l(\Omega)'}^2 \leqslant C.$$

These estimates are sufficient to perform the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and  $\tau \to 0$  in (17) as in Section 3.3 of [12] showing that the limit satisfies (15) and therefore is a global weak solution to (1)–(2).

**Remark 8.** (Discrete entropy inequality) Before summing from j = 1, ..., k, we can formulate the discrete entropy inequality (19) as

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] + \tau D[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}] + C\varepsilon\tau \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{i}^{k}\|_{H^{l}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k-1}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}].$$

This estimate is the discrete analogue of (11) and it will be needed in the proof of part (iii) of Theorem 1; see Section 3.6.  $\Box$ 

#### 3. Convergence to Equilibrium Under Detailed Balance

In this section, we prove parts (ii) and (iii) of Theorem 1. First, we discuss the conservation laws and the existence of an equilibrium state.

### 3.1. Conservation Laws

We set  $R_i = r_i/M_i$ ,  $J_i = j_i/M_i$  and  $\mathbf{R} = (R_1, \dots, R_n)^\top$ ,  $\mathbb{J} = (J_1, \dots, J_n)^\top$ ,  $\mathbf{c} = (c_1, \dots, c_n)^\top$ , where we recall that  $c_i = \rho_i/M_i$ . Dividing the *i*th-equation of (1) by  $M_i$ , we can reformulate them in vector form as

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{c} + \operatorname{div} \mathbb{J} = \boldsymbol{R}. \tag{20}$$

Let  $\mathbb{W} = (\beta_i^a - \alpha_i^a) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times N}$  be the Wegscheider matrix and let  $m = \dim \ker(\mathbb{W}^\top)$ . Note that  $m \ge 1$  since it follows from the conservation of total mass,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ , that  $\mathbf{M}^\top \mathbb{W} = 0$ , i.e., the vector  $\mathbf{M} = (M_1, \ldots, M_n)^\top$  belongs to  $\ker(\mathbb{W}^\top)$ . Let the row vectors  $\mathbf{q}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{q}_m \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times n}$  be a basis of the left null space of  $\mathbb{W}$ , i.e.  $\mathbf{q}_i \mathbb{W} = 0$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ . In particular,  $\mathbf{q}_i^\top \in \ker(\mathbb{W}^\top)$ . Finally, let  $\mathbb{Q} = (Q_{ij}) \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  be the matrix with rows  $\mathbf{q}_j$ .

We claim that system (20) (with no-flux boundary conditions) possesses precisely *m* linear independent conservation laws.

**Lemma 9.** (Conservation laws) Let  $\rho$  be a weak solution to (1)–(2) in the sense of Theorem 4. Then the following conservation laws hold:

$$\mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{c}}(t) = \boldsymbol{M}^0, \quad t > 0,$$

where  $M^0 = \mathbb{Q}\overline{c}^0$  is called the initial mass vector and  $c_i^0 = \rho_i^0/M_i$ , i = 1, ..., n.

Note that, by changing the sign of the rows of  $\mathbb{Q}$  if necessary, we can always choose  $\mathbb{Q}$  such that  $M^0$  is positive componentwise.

**Proof.** We observe that the definitions of  $\mathbb{Q}$  and  $r_i(\mathbf{x}) = M_i R_i(\mathbf{x})$  in (2) imply that  $\mathbb{Q}\mathbf{R} = 0$ . Choosing  $\mathbf{q}_j = (Q_{j1}, \dots, Q_{jn})$  as a test function in the weak formulation of (20) and observing that  $\nabla \mathbf{q}_j = 0$ , we find that

$$\int_0^t \int_\Omega \partial_t (\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{c})_j dz ds = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^t \int_\Omega \partial_t c_i Q_{ji} dz ds = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^t \int_\Omega R_i Q_{ji} dz ds$$
$$= \int_0^t \int_\Omega (\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{R})_j dz ds = 0.$$

This shows that

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{c}(t) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{z} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{c}^0 \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{z}, \quad t > 0,$$

or  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{c}(t) = \mathbb{Q}\overline{c}^0 =: M^0$ , where  $c_i^0 = \rho_i^0/M_i$  is the initial concentration.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 10.** There exists a row vector  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\top}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \boldsymbol{M}^{0} = 1$ .

**Proof.** Since *M* lies in the kernel of  $\mathbb{W}^{\top}$  and the rows of  $\mathbb{Q}$  form a basis of this space, we have  $M \in \ker(\mathbb{W}^{\top}) = \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top})$ . We infer that there exists a row vector  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  such that  $\mathbb{Q}^{\top} \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\top} = M$  or  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q} = M^{\top}$ . Moreover, by recalling  $|\Omega| = 1$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i^0 = 1$  in  $\Omega$ ,

$$1 = \int_{\Omega} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i^0 dz = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{\rho_i}^0 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i \overline{c_i}^0 = \boldsymbol{M}^\top \overline{\boldsymbol{c}}^0 = \boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q} \overline{\boldsymbol{c}}^0 = \boldsymbol{\zeta} \boldsymbol{M}^0,$$

using the definition of  $M^0$  in Lemma 9.  $\Box$ 

# 3.2. Detailed-Balance Condition

The relative entropy (9) is formally a Lyapunov functional along the trajectories of (1)–(2) for  $x_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ . Note that  $\mathcal{E}$  generally is a manifold of detailed-balance equilibria. To identify uniquely the detailed-balance equilibrium, we need to take into account the conservation laws. This subsection is concerned with the existence of a unique positive detailed-balance equilibrium satisfying the conservation laws.

For chemical reaction networks in the context of ordinary differential equations (ODE), the existence of a unique equilibrium state was proved by HORN AND JACK-SON [33]; also see [21]. The difficulty in this work lies in the fact that the reactions are modeled by molar fractions x, while the conservation laws are presented by concentrations c. Our idea is to enlarge the space  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  of concentrations  $(c_1, \ldots, c_n)$  by adding the total concentration  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , which is considered to be an independent variable, and then to employ the ideas by FEINBERG [21] to the augmented space  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ . To this end, let

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_{n+1}) = (c_1, \dots, c_n, c), \tag{21}$$

and define the vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ 

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a} = \left(\alpha_{1}^{a}, \dots, \alpha_{n}^{a}, \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\beta_{i}^{a} - \alpha_{i}^{a})\right)^{+}\right),$$
  
$$\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a} = \left(\beta_{1}^{a}, \dots, \beta_{n}^{a}, \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\alpha_{i}^{a} - \beta_{i}^{a})\right)^{+}\right),$$
  
(22)

where  $y^+ = \max\{0, y\}$ . Finally, we write  $\mathbf{1}_n = (1, \dots, 1)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathbf{1}_{n+1} = (1, \dots, 1)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . The main result of this subsection is the following:

**Theorem 11.** (Existence of a unique detailed-balance equilibrium) Assume that (A2) holds and let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  be an initial mass vector and  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  be a row vector such that  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} M^0 = 1$ . Then there exists a unique positive detailed-balance equilibrium  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$  satisfying the conservation laws and the normalization condition (14).

To prove Theorem 11 we first show the existence of an "equilibrium" in the augmented space.

**Proposition 12.** Suppose the assumptions of Theorem 11 hold. Then there exists a unique  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  satisfying

$$k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} = k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}, \quad a = 1, \dots, N, \quad \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \boldsymbol{\omega} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0, \tag{23}$$

where  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}$  and  $\widehat{\pmb{M}}^0$  are defined by

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1}_n^\top & -1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{(m+1) \times (n+1)}, \quad \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0 = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{M}^0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}.$$

Before proving this result, we first show that Theorem 11 follows from Proposition 12.

**Proof of Theorem 11.** Let  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (c_{1\infty}, \dots, c_{n\infty}, c_{\infty})$  be the equilibrium in the augmented space constructed in Proposition 12. Define  $x_{i\infty} = c_{i\infty}/c_{\infty}$ . We will prove that  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}$  is an element of  $\mathcal{E}$  and satisfies (14). Indeed, for any  $a = 1, \dots, N$ , let  $\gamma^a := \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\alpha_i^a - \beta_i^a)$  and assume first that  $\gamma^a \ge 0$ . Then

$$k_f^a \prod_{i=1}^n c_{i\infty}^{\alpha_i^a} = k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} = k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} = k_b^a \prod_{i=1}^n c_{i\infty}^{\beta_i^a} c_{\infty}^{\gamma^a}$$

is equivalent to

$$k_f^a \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} = k_f^a \prod_{i=1}^n c_{i\infty}^{\alpha_i^a} c_{\infty}^{-\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i^a} = k_b^a \prod_{i=1}^n c_{i\infty}^{\beta_i^a} c_{\infty}^{-\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i^a} = k_b^a \boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}.$$

The case  $\gamma^a \leq 0$  can be treated in an analogous way. Thus,  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ . It follows immediately from  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\boldsymbol{\omega} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0$  that  $\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{c}_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{M}^0$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^n c_{i\infty} = c_{\infty}$ . The latter identity implies that  $\sum_{i=1}^n x_{i\infty} = 1$  due to  $x_{i\infty} = c_{i\infty}/c_{\infty}$ . Therefore  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty}$  satisfies (14).  $\Box$ 

The aim now is to prove Proposition 12. For this, we introduce the following definitions:

$$X_{1} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} : \ k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}} = k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \text{ for } a = 1, \dots, N \right\},$$
$$X_{2} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} : \ \widehat{\mathbb{Q}} \boldsymbol{\omega} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0} \right\}.$$

We argue that  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are not empty. Indeed, due to (A2), there exists  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathcal{E}$ . Fix any  $\omega_{n+1,\infty} \in (0,\infty)$  and define  $\omega_{i\infty} = x_{i\infty}\omega_{n+1,\infty}$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . We obtain immediately  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty} = (\omega_{1\infty}, \ldots, \omega_{n+1,\infty}) \in X_1$ . Concerning  $X_2$ , we see that there exists  $\boldsymbol{\omega}' = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that  $\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{\omega}' = \boldsymbol{M}^0$  since rank $(\mathbb{Q}) = m < n$ . By defining  $\omega_{n+1} = \sum_{i=1}^n \omega_i$ , we infer that  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\boldsymbol{\omega}', \omega_{n+1}) \in X_2$ . **Lemma 13.** Let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  and  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  with  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ , let  $\omega_{\infty} \in X_1$  and  $p \in X_2$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- There exists a unique vector  $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in X_1 \cap X_2$ .
- There exists a unique vector  $\boldsymbol{\varphi}^* \in \operatorname{span}\{\boldsymbol{q}_1^\top, \dots, \boldsymbol{q}_m^\top\}$   $(\boldsymbol{q}_i \text{ is the ith row of } \mathbb{Q})$ and a unique number  $z_{m+1} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} - e^{-z_{m+1}} \boldsymbol{p}' \in \ker \mathbb{Q}, \quad \langle e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}', \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = \omega_{n+1,\infty}.$$
(24)

Here, we denote  $\mathbf{p}' = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$  and  $\boldsymbol{\omega}'_{\infty} e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*}$  equals the vector with components  $\omega_{i\infty} e^{\varphi_i^*}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Observe that  $\operatorname{span}\{\boldsymbol{q}_1^{\top}, \ldots, \boldsymbol{q}_m^{\top}\} = \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top})$ .

Proof. We first claim that

$$X_1 = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : \exists z_{m+1} \in \mathbb{R}, \ \boldsymbol{\varphi}^* \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^\top) \text{ such that } \boldsymbol{\omega} = e^{z_{m+1}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} \\ \omega_{n+1,\infty} \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

Indeed,  $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in X_1$  holds if and only if  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a - \boldsymbol{\mu}^a} = k_f^a / k_b^a = \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a - \boldsymbol{\mu}^a}$ . Taking the logarithm componentwise, this becomes

$$\langle \log \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}, \boldsymbol{\nu}^{a} - \boldsymbol{\mu}^{a} \rangle = \langle \log \boldsymbol{\omega}, \boldsymbol{\nu}^{a} - \boldsymbol{\mu}^{a} \rangle, \quad a = 1, \dots, N.$$

This means that  $\varphi := \log(\omega/\omega_{\infty}) = \log \omega - \log \omega_{\infty} \in \ker{\{\nu^{a} - \mu^{a}\}_{a=1,...,N}}$ . By definition of  $\mu^{a}$  and  $\nu^{a}$ , we know that

$$\ker\{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a - \boldsymbol{\mu}^a\}_{a=1,\dots,N} = \operatorname{span}\left\{(\boldsymbol{q}_1^{\top}, 0)^{\top}, \dots, (\boldsymbol{q}_m^{\top}, 0)^{\top}, \boldsymbol{1}_{n+1}\right\}.$$

Thus, there exist numbers  $z_1, \ldots, z_{m+1} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} z_i \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{q}_i^\top \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + z_{m+1} \boldsymbol{1}_{n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^* + z_{m+1} \boldsymbol{1}_n \\ z_{m+1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\varphi^* = \sum_{i=1}^m z_i q_i^\top \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^\top)$ . It follows from the definition of  $\varphi$  that

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{\omega}}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}} = e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} = \exp\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^* + z_{m+1} \mathbf{1}_n}{z_{m+1}}\right) = e^{z_{m+1}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We conclude that  $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in X_1$  if and only if

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty} e^{z_{m+1}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = e^{z_{m+1}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} \\ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{n+1,\infty} \end{pmatrix},$$

and this proves the claim.

Next, fixing  $p \in X_2$ , it holds that  $\omega \in X_2$  if and only if

$$\mathbf{0} = \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{p}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1}_n^\top & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\omega}' - \boldsymbol{p}' \\ \omega_{n+1} - p_{n+1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}(\boldsymbol{\omega}' - \boldsymbol{p}') \\ \langle \mathbf{1}_n, \boldsymbol{\omega}' - \boldsymbol{p}' \rangle - (\omega_{n+1} - p_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Consequently, in view of the preceding claim, we have  $\omega \in X_1 \cap X_2$  if and only if

$$\mathbf{0} = \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}(\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{p}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}(e^{z_{m+1}}\boldsymbol{\omega}'_{\infty}e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} - \boldsymbol{p}') \\ \langle \mathbf{1}_n, e^{z_{m+1}}\boldsymbol{\omega}'_{\infty}e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*} - \boldsymbol{p}' \rangle - (e^{z_{m+1}}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{n+1,\infty} - p_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

The first *n* rows mean that  $\omega'_{\infty} e^{\varphi *} - e^{-z_{m+1}} p' \in \ker \mathbb{Q}$ . Since  $p \in X_2$  and consequently  $p_{n+1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i = \langle \mathbf{1}_n, p' \rangle$ , the last row simplifies to

$$0 = e^{z_{m+1}} \big( \langle e^{\varphi^*} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}', \mathbf{1}_n \rangle - \omega_{n+1,\infty} \big).$$

This shows (24) and ends the proof.  $\Box$ 

We need one more lemma.

**Lemma 14.** [21, Proposition B.1] Let U be a linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_n), b = (b_1, \ldots, b_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ . There exists a unique element  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n) \in U^{\perp}$  such that

$$ae^{\mu} - b \in U$$
,

where  $ae^{\mu} = (a_1 e^{\mu_1}, \dots, a_n e^{\mu_n}).$ 

**Proof of Proposition 12.** Step 1: Existence. First, fixing  $\omega_{\infty} \in X_1$  and  $p \in X_2$ , we claim that there exist  $z_{m+1} \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varphi^* \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top})$  such that (24) holds. We apply Lemma 14 with  $U = \ker \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $a = \omega'_{\infty}$ , and  $b = e^{-z_{m+1}}p'$ , yielding the existence of a unique vector  $\varphi^*(z_{m+1}) \in U^{\perp} = \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top})$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(\boldsymbol{z}_{m+1})} - e^{-\boldsymbol{z}_{m+1}} \boldsymbol{p}' \in \ker \mathbb{Q}.$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

It remains to show the second equation in (24), i.e. to show that there exists a number  $z_{m+1}^* \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\langle e^{\varphi^*(z_{m+1}^*)}\omega'_{\infty}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = \omega_{n+1,\infty}$ . Then we set  $\varphi^* := \varphi^*(z_{m+1}^*)$ , and (25) yields the first equation in (24).

We know that  $M \in \text{span}\{q_1^\top, \dots, q_m^\top\}$ . Then (25) implies that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})} - e^{-z_{m+1}} \boldsymbol{p}', \boldsymbol{M} \rangle = 0 \text{ or } \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{M} \rangle = e^{-z_{m+1}} \langle \boldsymbol{p}', \boldsymbol{M} \rangle > 0.$$

We deduce that

$$\lim_{z_{m+1}\to+\infty} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{M} \rangle = 0, \quad \lim_{z_{m+1}\to-\infty} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{M} \rangle = \infty.$$

Moreover, since

$$\frac{1}{M_{\max}} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{M} \rangle \leqslant \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{1}_n \rangle \leqslant \frac{1}{M_{\min}} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \boldsymbol{M} \rangle,$$

it holds that

$$\lim_{z_{m+1}\to+\infty} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = 0, \quad \lim_{z_{m+1}\to-\infty} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}^*(z_{m+1})}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = \infty.$$

By continuity, there exists  $z_{m+1}^* \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\langle e^{\varphi^*(z_{m+1}^*)} \omega_{\infty}', \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = \omega_{n+1,\infty}$ .

Step 2: Uniqueness. Assume that there exist  $(\widehat{\varphi}, \widehat{z})$  and  $(\widecheck{\varphi}, \widecheck{z})$  with  $\widehat{\varphi}, \widecheck{\varphi} \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top})$  and  $\widehat{z}, \widecheck{z} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} - e^{-\widehat{\boldsymbol{z}}} \boldsymbol{p}', \ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} - e^{-\widecheck{\boldsymbol{z}}} \boldsymbol{p}' \in \ker \mathbb{Q},$$
(26)

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = \omega_{n+1,\infty} = \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle.$$
<sup>(27)</sup>

From (26) it follows that

$$e^{\widehat{z}}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}'e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} - e^{\check{z}}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}'e^{\check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} \in \ker \mathbb{Q}.$$

We infer from  $\widehat{\varphi} - \widecheck{\varphi} \in \operatorname{ran}(\mathbb{Q}^{\top}) = \operatorname{span}\{q_1^{\top}, \dots, q_m^{\top}\}$  that

$$0 = \langle e^{\hat{z}} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} - e^{\check{z}} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \rangle$$
  
=  $e^{\check{z}} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' (e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}} - e^{\check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}), \, (\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}) \rangle + (e^{\hat{z}} - e^{\check{z}}) \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \check{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \rangle =: I_1 + I_2.$ 

Hence, we have  $I_2 = -I_1$  and because of

$$I_1 = e^{\check{z}} \sum_{i=1}^n \omega_{i\infty} \left( e^{\widehat{\varphi}_i} - e^{\check{\varphi}_i} \right) (\widehat{\varphi}_i - \check{\varphi}_i) \ge 0,$$

it holds that  $I_2 = -I_1 \leq 0$ .

Now, if  $\hat{z} = \check{z}$ , Lemma 14 shows that  $\hat{\varphi} = \check{\varphi}$ , and the proof is finished. Thus, let us assume, without loss of generality, that  $\hat{z} > \check{z}$ . Then the definition and nonpositivity of  $I_2$  imply that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \rangle \leqslant 0.$$
 (28)

Consider the function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \omega_{i\infty} e^{\varphi_i}$ . Then  $Df(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \boldsymbol{\omega}'_{\infty} e^{\varphi}$ and  $D^2 f(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \text{diag}(\omega_{i\infty} e^{\varphi_i})_{i=1,\dots,n}$  and so, f is strictly convex. Hence, by (27),

$$\begin{split} \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \rangle &= \langle \mathrm{D}f(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}), \widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} - \widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \rangle \geqslant f(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}) - f(\widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}) \\ &= \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle - \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}' e^{\widecheck{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}, \mathbf{1}_n \rangle = 0. \end{split}$$

We deduce from this identity and (28) that  $\langle \omega'_{\infty} e^{\widehat{\varphi}}, \widehat{\varphi} - \check{\varphi} \rangle = 0$  and consequently,  $I_2 = 0$  and  $I_1 = -I_2 = 0$ . By the monotonicity of the exponential function, we infer that  $\widehat{\varphi} = \check{\varphi}$ . Then, taking the difference of the two vectors in (26), we have  $(e^{-\widehat{z}} - e^{-\widetilde{z}})p' \in \ker \mathbb{Q}$ . Since  $\widehat{z} \neq \check{z}$ , this shows that  $p' \in \ker \mathbb{Q}$  and therefore  $\mathbb{Q}p' = \mathbf{0}$  contradicting the fact that  $p \in X_2$  and in particular  $\mathbb{Q}p' = M^0 \neq \mathbf{0}$ . Thus,  $\widehat{z}$  and  $\check{z}$  must coincide, and uniqueness holds.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 15.** (Boundary equilibria and Global Attractor Conjecture) Besides the unique positive detailed-balance equilibrium obtained in Theorem 11, there might exist (possibly infinitely many) boundary equilibria  $x^* \in \partial \mathcal{E}$ . The convergence of solutions to reaction systems towards the positive equilibrium under the presence of boundary equilibria is a subtle problem, even in the ODE setting. The main reason for there is that if a trajectory converges to a boundary equilibrium, the entropy production D[x] vanishes while the relative entropy  $E[x|x_{\infty}]$  remains positive, which means that the entropy-production inequality (13) is not true in general.

However, it is conjectured, still in the ODE setting, that the positive detailed-balance equilibrium is the only attracting point despite the presence of boundary equilibria. This is called the *Global Attractor Conjecture*, and it is considered as one of the most important problems in chemical reaction network theory; see, e.g., [1,28] for partial answers. Recently, a full proof of this conjecture in the ODE setting has been proposed in [16], but the result is still under verification; see also [18,25] for reaction–diffusion systems possessing boundary equilibria.

# 3.3. Preliminary Estimates for the Entropy and Entropy Production

We derive some estimates for the relative entropy (9) and the entropy production (12) from below and above. In what follows, let  $\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_n : \Omega \to [0, \infty)$  be integrable functions such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i = 1$  in  $\Omega$  and set  $c_i = \rho_i/M_i$  and  $x_i = c_i/c$ for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . We assume that the functions have the same regularity as the weak solutions from Theorem 4. For later reference, we note the following inequalities, which give bounds on the total concentration only depending on the molar masses:

$$\frac{1}{M_{\max}} \leqslant c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\rho_i}{M_i} \leqslant \frac{1}{M_{\min}} \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
(29)

where  $M_{\max} = \max_{i=1,...,n} M_i$  and  $M_{\min} = \min_{i=1,...,n} M_i$ . Moreover, given the unique equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty}$  according to Theorem 11, we observe that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_{i\infty}/M_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i\infty} = c_{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i\infty} = c_{\infty}$ , and consequently,

$$\frac{1}{M_{\max}} \leqslant c_{\infty} \leqslant \frac{1}{M_{\min}}.$$
(30)

**Lemma 16.** There exists a constant C > 0, only depending on  $M_{\min}$ ,  $M_{\max}$ , and  $x_{\infty}$ , such that

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left( c_i^{1/2} - \overline{c_i^{1/2}} \right)^2 dz + \left( \overline{c_i}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2 \right).$$

**Proof.** We use  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i\infty} = 1$  to reformulate the relative entropy

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} c \left( x_{i} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} - x_{i} + x_{i\infty} \right) dz$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} c x_{i\infty} \left( \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} - \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} + 1 \right) dz$$

The function  $\Phi(y) = (y \ln y - y + 1)/(y^{1/2} - 1)^2$  is continuous and nondecreasing on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . Therefore, using (29),

1078

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} c x_{i\infty} \Phi\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}}\right) \left(\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}}\right)^{1/2} - 1\right)^{2} \mathrm{d}z$$
  
$$\leq \frac{1}{M_{\min}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Phi\left(\frac{1}{x_{i\infty}}\right) \frac{1}{x_{i\infty}} \int_{\Omega} (x_{i} - x_{i\infty})^{2} \mathrm{d}z \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} (x_{i} - x_{i\infty})^{2} \mathrm{d}z$$
(31)

for some constant C > 0 only depending on  $M_{\min}$  and  $x_{\infty}$ .

It remains to formulate the square on the right-hand side in terms of the partial concentrations. To this end, we set  $f_i(\mathbf{c}) = c_i/c$  for  $\mathbf{c} = (c_1, \ldots, c_n)$  and  $c = \sum_{j=1}^n c_j$ . By definition of the molar fractions  $x_i$  and  $x_{i\infty}$ , we have  $x_i = f_i(\mathbf{c})$  and  $x_{i\infty} = f_i(\mathbf{c}_\infty)$ . The estimates

$$\left|\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial c_j}(\boldsymbol{c})\right| \leqslant \frac{1}{c} \leqslant M_{\max}, \quad \left|\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial c_j}(\boldsymbol{c}_{\infty})\right| \leqslant \frac{1}{c_{\infty}} \leqslant M_{\max}$$

imply that, for some  $\xi$  on the line between c and  $c_{\infty}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} (x_i - x_{i\infty})^2 \mathrm{d}z &= \int_{\Omega} (f_i(c) - f_i(c_\infty))^2 \mathrm{d}z = \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\Omega} \left( \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial c_j}(\xi) \right)^2 (c_j - c_{j\infty})^2 \mathrm{d}z \\ &\leqslant M_{\max}^2 \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\Omega} (c_j^{1/2} + c_{j\infty}^{1/2})^2 (c_j^{1/2} - c_{j\infty}^{1/2})^2 \mathrm{d}z \\ &\leqslant M_{\max}^2 \left( \frac{2}{M_{\min}^{1/2}} \right)^2 \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\Omega} (c_i^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2})^2 \mathrm{d}z \\ &\leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\Omega} (c_i^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2})^2 \mathrm{d}z, \end{split}$$

and C > 0 depends only on  $M_{\min}$ ,  $M_{\max}$ , and  $x_{\infty}$ . Combining this estimate with (31) leads to (here, we use that  $|\Omega| = 1$ )

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} \left( c_{i}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2} dz$$
  
$$\leq 2C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left( c_{i}^{1/2} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} dz + \left( \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2} \right)$$
  
$$\leq 2C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left( c_{i}^{1/2} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} dz + 2 \left( \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} + 2 \left( \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2} \right). \quad (32)$$

We wish to estimate the second term. The Cauchy–Schwarz inequality gives that  $\overline{c_i^{1/2}} \leq \overline{c_i}^{1/2}$ , and hence

$$\left(\overline{c_i^{1/2}} - \overline{c_i}^{1/2}\right)^2 = \left(\overline{c_i^{1/2}}\right)^2 + \overline{c_i} - 2\overline{c_i^{1/2}}\overline{c_i}^{1/2}$$
$$\leqslant \left(\overline{c_i^{1/2}}\right)^2 + \overline{c_i} - 2\overline{c_i^{1/2}}\overline{c_i^{1/2}} = \int_{\Omega} \left(c_i^{1/2} - \overline{c_i^{1/2}}\right)^2 \mathrm{d}z.$$

Putting this into (32), it follows that

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq 2C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( 3 \int_{\Omega} \left( c_{i}^{1/2} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}z + 2 \left( \overline{c_{i}}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2} \right),$$

and we conclude the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 17.** There exists a constant C > 0, only depending on  $M_{\min}$  and  $M_{\max}$ , such that

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge C \left[ \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_i^{1/2}|^2 dz + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c^{1/2}|^2 dz + \sum_{a=1}^N \int_{\Omega} \left( k_f^a \mathbf{x}^{a^a} - k_b^a \mathbf{x}^{\beta^a} \right) \ln \frac{k_f^a \mathbf{x}^{a^a}}{k_b^a \mathbf{x}^{\beta^a}} dz \right].$$

**Proof.** Lemma 6 shows that the first term in D[x] can be estimated from below:

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla \boldsymbol{w} : \mathbb{B}(\boldsymbol{w}) \nabla \boldsymbol{w} dz \ge C_B \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2 dz.$$

We claim that we can relate  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2$  and  $|\nabla c^{1/2}|^2$ . For this, we proceed as in [12, p. 494]. We infer from the definition  $x_i = c_i/c$  that  $c \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i x_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i c_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_i = 1$ . Therefore, inserting  $c = 1/\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i x_i$  and using the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality,

$$|\nabla c^{1/2}|^2 = \frac{1}{4c} |\nabla c|^2 = \frac{1}{4c} \left| \frac{-\sum_{i=1}^n M_i \nabla x_i}{(\sum_{i=1}^n M_i x_i)^2} \right|^2 = c^3 \left| \sum_{i=1}^n M_i x_i^{1/2} \nabla x_i^{1/2} \right|^2$$
$$\leqslant nc^3 \sum_{i=1}^n M_i^2 x_i |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2 \leqslant \frac{nM_{\max}^2}{M_{\min}^3} \sum_{i=1}^n |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2, \tag{33}$$

where we used  $c \leq 1/M_{\min}$  (see (29)). Similarly, employing (33),

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\nabla c_i^{1/2}|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\nabla (cx_i)^{1/2}|^2 \leq 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i |\nabla c^{1/2}|^2 + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} c |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2$$
$$= 2|\nabla c^{1/2}|^2 + 2c \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2 \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\nabla x_i^{1/2}|^2,$$
(34)

where C > 0 depends only on  $M_{\min}$  and  $M_{\max}$ . Adding (33) and (34) and integrating over  $\Omega$  then shows that, for another constant C > 0,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla x_{i}^{1/2}|^{2} \ge C \bigg( \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_{i}^{1/2}|^{2} dz + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c^{1/2}|^{2} dz \bigg).$$

The lemma then follows from definition (12) of D[x].  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 18.** There exists a constant  $C_{CKP} > 0$ , only depending on  $M_{max}$ , such that

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \geq C_{\text{CKP}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\boldsymbol{x}_{i} - \boldsymbol{x}_{i\infty}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$

1080

**Proof.** The estimate is a consequence of the Csiszár–Kullback–Pinsker inequality. Since we are interested in the constant, we provide the (short) proof. We recall that  $1/M_{\text{max}} \leq c \leq 1/M_{\text{min}}$ . Arguing as in (31) and using  $\Phi(y) \geq 1$  for  $y \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , we obtain

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} cx_{i\infty} \left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} - \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}} + 1\right) dz$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} cx_{i\infty} \Phi\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}}\right) \left(\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i\infty}}\right)^{1/2} - 1\right)^{2} dz$$
$$\geqslant \frac{1}{M_{\max}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} (x_{i}^{1/2} - x_{i\infty}^{1/2})^{2} dz.$$

Then, by the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and the bounds  $x_i \leq 1, x_{i\infty} \leq 1$ ,

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \ge \frac{1}{M_{\max}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} |x_{i}^{1/2} - x_{i\infty}^{1/2}| \mathrm{d}z \right)^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{M_{\max}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \frac{|x_{i} - x_{i\infty}|}{x_{i}^{1/2} + x_{i\infty}^{1/2}} \mathrm{d}z \right)^{2}$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{4M_{\max}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} |x_{i} - x_{i\infty}| \mathrm{d}z \right)^{2}.$$

This finishes the proof.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.4. The Case of Equal Homogeneities

The aim of this and the following subsection is the proof of the functional inequality  $D[\mathbf{x}] \ge \lambda E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]$  for some  $\lambda > 0$ . For this, we will distinguish two cases, the case which we call *equal homogeneities*,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^a = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i^a \text{ for all } a = 1, \dots, N,$$
(35)

and the case of *unequal homogeneities*, for which exists  $a \in \{1, ..., N\}$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^a \neq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i^a.$$
(36)

This subsection is concerned with the first case.

**Proposition 19.** (Entropy entropy-production inequality; case of equal homogeneities) Fix  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}_\infty$  be the equilibrium constructed in Theorem 11. Assume that (35) holds and system (1)–(2) has no boundary equilibria. Then there exists a constant  $\lambda > 0$ , which is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality, such that

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \geqslant \lambda E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]$$

for all functions  $\mathbf{x} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$  having the same regularity as the corresponding solutions in Theorem 4, and satisfying  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{\mathbf{c}} = \mathbf{M}^0$ .

Proof. We use Lemma 16 and the Poincaré inequality to obtain

$$E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}] \leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left( c_i^{1/2} - \overline{c_i^{1/2}} \right)^2 \mathrm{d}z + \left( \overline{c_i}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2 \right)$$
$$\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + \left( \left( \frac{\overline{c_i}}{c_{i\infty}} \right)^{1/2} - 1 \right)^2 \right\}.$$

Next, we take into account estimate [25, formula (11)] and [25, Lemma 2.7]:

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_{i}^{1/2}|^{2} \mathrm{d}z + \frac{C}{H_{1}} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left\{ \left( \sqrt{\frac{\overline{c}}{c_{\infty}}} \right)^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - \left( \sqrt{\frac{\overline{c}}{c_{\infty}}} \right)^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}} \right\}^{2}$$
$$\leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_{i}^{1/2}|^{2} \mathrm{d}z + C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}} \right) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}}, \quad (37)$$

where  $H_1 > 0$  is the constant in the finite-dimensional inequality (11) of [25]. Observe that we can apply the results [25] since  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{c} = M^0$  is satisfied; see Lemma 9.

We claim that the last term is smaller or equal D[x]. Indeed, inserting the expression  $x_i = c_i/c$  in the last term of the entropy production (12) and employing assumption (35), it follows that

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}} dz = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{c^{\alpha_{1}^{a} + \dots \alpha_{n}^{a}}} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}} dz$$
$$\geq C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}} dz, \qquad (38)$$

where we used in the last step  $M_{\min} \leq 1/c \leq M_{\max}$ . By Lemma 17, this shows that

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_f^a \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}) \ln \frac{k_f^a \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^a}}{k_b^a \boldsymbol{c}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^a}} \mathrm{d}z,$$

and combining this estimate with (37) concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

# 3.5. The Case of Unequal Homogeneities

In this subsection, we consider the case (36) of unequal homogeneities. Since we cannot replace  $\mathbf{x}$  easily by  $\mathbf{c}$  as in (38), the estimates are much more involved than in the case of equal homogeneities. Similar as to Section 3.2, our idea is to introduce c as a new variable and to lift the problem from the n variables  $c_1, \ldots, c_n$ to the n + 1 variables  $c_1, \ldots, c_n, c$ . Then  $D[\mathbf{x}]$  is represented by n + 1 variables  $c_1, \ldots, c_n, c$  under the conservation laws  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{\mathbf{c}} = \mathbf{M}^0$  and the additional constraint  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i$  and thus  $\overline{c} = \sum_{i=1}^n \overline{c_i}$ . We employ the notation (21) and (22).

 $c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i$  and the conservation laws  $\mathbb{Q}c = M^-$  and the additional constraint  $c = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i$  and thus  $\overline{c} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{c_i}$ . We employ the notation (21) and (22). First, let  $\gamma^a := \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\alpha_i^a - \beta_i^a)$  and assume that  $\gamma^a \ge 0$ . With the definitions  $x_i = c_i/c, \omega_i = c_i$  for i = 1, ..., n, and  $\omega_{n+1} = c$ , we compute

$$\begin{split} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \left\{ k_{f}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{c_{i}}{c} \right)^{\alpha_{i}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{c_{i}}{c} \right)^{\beta_{i}^{a}} \right\} \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (c_{i}/c)^{\alpha_{i}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (c_{i}/c)^{\beta_{i}^{a}}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{c^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}^{a}}} \left( k_{f}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}^{\alpha_{i}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} c^{\gamma^{a}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}^{\beta_{i}}} \right) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \prod_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}^{\alpha_{i}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} c^{\gamma^{a}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}^{\beta_{i}}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{c^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}^{a}}} \left( k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}} \right) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}}} \mathrm{d}z \\ &\geqslant C \int_{\Omega} \left( k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}} \right) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}}} \mathrm{d}z, \end{split}$$

where C > 0 depends on  $M_{\text{max}}$ . In the case  $\gamma^a < 0$ , we argue in the same way, leading to

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} (k_{f}^{a} \mathbf{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \mathbf{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \mathbf{x}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \mathbf{x}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{a}}} dz = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{c^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}^{a}}} (k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}}) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}}} dz$$
$$\geq C \int_{\Omega} \left( k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}} - k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}} \right) \ln \frac{k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mu^{a}}}{k_{b}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\nu^{a}}} dz.$$

Consequently, taking into account Lemma 17, we find that

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge \widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] := C \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + C \sum_{a=1}^N \int_{\Omega} \left( k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right) \ln \frac{k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a}}{k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}} \mathrm{d}z.$$
(39)

We need to determine the conservation laws for  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ . We write  $\mathbf{1} = (1, \dots, 1)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

**Lemma 20.** Assume that  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{c} = M^0$ . Then  $\overline{\omega} = (\overline{c_1}, \ldots, \overline{c_n}, \overline{c})$  satisfies the conservation laws

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}=\widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0},$$

where  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}$  and  $\widehat{\pmb{M}}^0$  are defined by

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1}^\top & -1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{(m+1) \times (n+1)}, \quad \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0 = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{M}^0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}.$$
(40)

**Proof.** The result follows from a direct computation:

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1} & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\omega_1} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\overline{\omega_n}}{\overline{\omega_{n+1}}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{c}} \\ \sum_{i=1}^n \overline{c_i} - \overline{c} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{M}^0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

since it holds that  $\overline{c} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{c_i}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 21.** There exists a constant C > 0, depending on  $\Omega$ , n, N,  $k_f^a$ ,  $k_b^a$  (a = 1, ..., N), and  $M_i$  (i = 1, ..., n), such that

$$\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] \ge C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2$$

for all measurable functions  $\boldsymbol{\omega} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  such that  $\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}]$  is finite, with  $\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}]$  defined in (39).

A similar but slightly simpler result for reaction–diffusion systems is proved in [25, Lemma 2.7]. The proof of this lemma is lengthy and therefore shifted to 6. We remark that the validity of this lemma applies to all measurable functions with  $\widetilde{D}[\omega] < +\infty$ .

**Lemma 22.** Assume that (1)–(2) possesses no boundary equilibria. Fix  $\mathbf{M}^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbf{M}^0 = 1$ . Then there exists a nonconstructive constant C > 0 such that for all  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  satisfying  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \widehat{\mathbf{M}}^0$ , it holds that

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^a} \right)^2 \ge C \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_i}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2, \quad (41)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}$  is constructed in Proposition 12.

**Remark 23.** We mark that this lemma is proved for *any* vector  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  satisfying the conservation laws. It does not use any analytical properties of solutions to (1)–(2). The notation  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$  is a bit abusive, since we later apply this lemma to the average  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is constructed from solutions to (1)–(2).

**Remark 24.** While all the constants before and after this lemma are constructive, this is not the case for the constant in Lemma 22, since the lemma is proved by using a contradiction argument. Still, inequality (41) is finite-dimensional. Therefore, in the general case, the rate of convergence to equilibrium to system (1)–(2) is constructive up to the finite-dimensional inequality (41). We present in Section 4 an example for which (41) can be proved with a constructive (even explicit) constant, which consequently leads to a constructive rate of convergence to equilibrium for (1)–(2).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of Lemma 22.** We first show that  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$  is bounded. Indeed, we infer from  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0$  that  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}' = \boldsymbol{M}^0$ . Thus,  $1 = \boldsymbol{\zeta} \boldsymbol{M}^0 = \boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \sum_{i=1}^n M_i \overline{\omega_i}$ . Hence,  $\overline{\omega_i} \leq 1/M_{\min}$  and consequently  $\overline{\omega}_{n+1} = \sum_{i=1}^n \overline{\omega_i} \leq n/M_{\min}$ .

We will now prove that

$$\lambda := \inf_{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+: \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\nu^a} \right)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_i}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2} > 0.$$

It is obvious that  $\lambda \ge 0$ . Since the denominator is bounded from above,  $\lambda = 0$  can occur only if the nominator approaches zero. In view of Proposition 12 and the fact that the system is assumed to have no boundary equilibria, the nominator can converge to zero only when  $\overline{\omega} \to \omega_{\infty}$ . Therefore,  $\lambda = 0$  is only possible if  $\delta = 0$ , where  $\delta$  is the linearized version of  $\lambda$  defined in Lemma 25 below. Setting  $\eta_i = \overline{\omega_i} - \omega_{i\infty}$ , Lemma 25 shows that  $\delta = 0$  if and only if

$$0 = \liminf_{\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}=\widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0}, \ \overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \to \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^{N} k_{f}^{a} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}^{\mu^{a}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\mu_{i}^{a} - \nu_{i}^{a}) \eta_{i} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{i\infty}^{-1} \right\}^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \eta_{i}^{2} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{i\infty}^{-1}}.$$

Since the nominator and denominator have the same homogeneity, the limit inferior remains unchanged if  $\eta = (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_{n+1})$  has unit length,  $\|\eta\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} = 1$  (using the Euclidean norm). We infer from  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega} = \widehat{M}^0 = \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\omega_{\infty}$  that  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\eta = 0$ . Hence, we have  $\delta = 0$  if and only if there exists a vector  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  satisfying  $\|\eta\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} = 1$ ,  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\eta = 0$ , and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\mu_i^a - \nu_i^a) \frac{\eta_i}{\omega_{i\infty}} = 0 \quad \text{for all } a = 1, \dots, N.$$

The last identity implies that the vector  $\boldsymbol{\eta}/\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty} := (\eta_1/\omega_{1\infty}, \dots, \eta_{n+1}/\omega_{n+1,\infty})^{\top}$  belongs to the kernel of  $\mathbb{P}^{\top}$ , where

$$\mathbb{P} = \left(\mathbf{v}^{a} - \boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}\right)_{a=1,\dots,N} \in \mathbb{R}^{(n+1) \times N}$$

Since the rows of  $\mathbb{Q}$  form a basis of the Wegscheider matrix  $\mathbb{W} = (\beta^a - \alpha^a)_{a=1,...,N}$ , and taking into account definition (22) of  $\mu^a$  and  $\nu^a$ , we see that the columns of the matrix

$$\mathbb{Q}^* := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbf{1}_n \\ \mathbf{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

form a basis of ker( $\mathbb{P}^{\top}$ ). We deduce that there exists  $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  such that  $\eta/\omega_{\infty} = \mathbb{Q}^* \rho$  or, equivalently,  $\eta = \mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^* \rho$ , where  $\mathbb{D} = \text{diag}(\omega_{1\infty}, \ldots, \omega_{n+1,\infty})$ . Hence, because of  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\eta = 0$ , we obtain  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^*\rho = 0$ . The idea is now to prove that  $\rho = 0$ , which implies that  $\eta = \mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^*\rho = 0$ , contradicting  $\|\eta\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} = 1$ .

We claim that the matrix  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^*$  is invertible. Indeed, setting  $\mathbb{A}_{\infty} = \text{diag}(\omega_{1\infty}, \ldots, \omega_{n\infty})$ , we compute

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^* = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1}^\top & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{A}_\infty & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \omega_{n+1,\infty} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_\infty\mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_\infty\mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{1}^\top\mathbb{A}_\infty\mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbf{1}^\top\mathbb{A}_\infty\mathbf{1} - \omega_{n+1,\infty} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since  $\mathbf{1}^{\top} \mathbb{A}_{\infty} \mathbf{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \omega_{i\infty} = \omega_{n+1,\infty}$  (see Proposition 12), it follows that

$$\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^* = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{1}^\top\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^\top & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We claim that the matrix  $\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top}$  is regular. Since  $\mathbb{Q}$  has full rank, so is  $\mathbb{Q}^{\top}$ , and we infer for all  $\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^m$  that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\xi}, \mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty} \mathbb{Q}^{\top} \boldsymbol{\xi} \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{\xi}, \mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top} \boldsymbol{\xi} \rangle = \langle \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top} \boldsymbol{\xi}, \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top} \boldsymbol{\xi} \rangle \ge 0$$

with equality if and only if  $\boldsymbol{\xi} = \boldsymbol{0}$ . Hence,  $\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top}$  is regular. Together with the rule on the determinant of block matrices, this shows that

$$\det(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{D}\mathbb{Q}^*) = \det(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top}) \det\left[0 - (\mathbf{1}^{\top}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top})(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top})^{-1}(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbf{1})\right].$$

As we already know that  $det(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbb{Q}^{\top}) \neq 0$ , it remains to verify that the second factor does not vanish. As the expression in the brackets  $[\cdots]$  is a number, we need to show that

$$(\mathbf{1}^{\top} \mathbb{A}_{\infty} \mathbb{Q}^{\top})(\mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty} \mathbb{Q}^{\top})^{-1}(\mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty} \mathbf{1}) \neq 0.$$
(42)

The diagonal matrix  $\mathbb{A}_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  has strictly positive diagonal elements. Therefore, (42) is equivalent to

$$(\mathbf{1}^{\top} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2})(\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top}) \big( (\mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2})(\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top}) \big)^{-1} (\mathbb{Q} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2}) (\mathbf{1}^{\top} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2})^{\top} \neq 0.$$

We abbreviate the left-hand side by introducing  $z = \mathbf{1}^{\top} \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times n}$  and  $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbb{Q}^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ . Then (42) becomes

$$\mathbf{z}\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{X}^{\top}\mathbb{X})^{-1}\mathbb{X}^{\top}\mathbf{z}^{\top}\neq\mathbf{0}$$

Since X is not a square matrix, we cannot invert it, but we may consider its Moore-Penrose generalized inverse  $X^{\dagger}$ ; see [45] or [49, Section 11.5] for a definition and properties. We compute

$$z\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{X}^{\top}\mathbb{X})^{-1}\mathbb{X}^{\top}z^{\top} = z\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{X}^{\top}\mathbb{X})^{\dagger}\mathbb{X}^{\top}z^{\top}$$
 [49, page 218]  
$$= z\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger}(\mathbb{X}^{\top})^{\dagger}\mathbb{X}^{\top}z^{\top}$$
 [45, Lemma 1.5]  
$$= z(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}z^{\top}$$
 [49, Prop. 11.5]  
$$= z(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}z^{\top}$$
 [45, Lemma 1.5]  
$$= \|(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}z^{\top}\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{2}.$$

Consequently, (42) holds if and only if  $(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}z^{\top} \neq 0$  or  $z^{\top} \notin \ker((\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top})$ . Now, it holds that

$$\ker\left((\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}\right) = \ker\left((\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top}\mathbb{X}^{\top}\right) = \ker\left((\mathbb{X}^{\top})^{\dagger}\mathbb{X}^{\top}\right) = \ker(\mathbb{X}^{\top}),$$

where the last step follows from [49, page 219]. We infer that  $z^{\top} \notin \ker((\mathbb{X}\mathbb{X}^{\dagger})^{\top})$  if and only if  $\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2} \mathbf{1} = z^{\top} \notin \ker(\mathbb{X}^{\top}) = \ker(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2})$ , which is equivalent to

$$0 \neq (\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2})(\mathbb{A}_{\infty}^{1/2}\mathbf{1}) = \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}\mathbf{1} = \mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}',$$

and this property holds true since  $\mathbb{Q}\omega'_{\infty} = M^0 \neq 0$ . This proves that (42) holds. As mentioned before, this implies that  $\rho = 0$  and consequently  $\eta = 0$ , which contradicts the fact that  $\eta$  has unit length. We conclude that  $\delta > 0$  (defined in Lemma 25) and  $\lambda > 0$ , finishing the proof.  $\Box$ 

We now provide the technical computations needed in Lemma 22.

**Lemma 25.** Let  $\omega_{\infty}$  be a positive detailed-balance equilibrium constructed in *Proposition* 12. It holds that

$$\begin{split} \delta &:= \liminf_{\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega}=\widehat{M}^{0}, \ \overline{\omega} \to \omega_{\infty}} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left\{ (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^{a}} \right\}^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_{i}}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \liminf_{\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega}=\widehat{M}^{0}, \ \overline{\omega} \to \omega_{\infty}} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^{N} k_{f}^{a} \omega_{\infty}^{\mu^{a}} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\mu_{i}^{a} - \nu_{i}^{a}) (\overline{\omega_{i}} - \omega_{i\infty}) \omega_{i\infty}^{-1} \right\}^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{\omega_{i}} - \omega_{i\infty})^{2} \omega_{i\infty}^{-1}} \end{split}$$

**Proof.** We denote by

$$D_1(\overline{\omega}) = \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^a} \right)^2,$$
$$D_2(\overline{\omega}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_i}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2$$

the nominator and denominator of the definition of  $\delta$ , respectively. We linearize both expressions around  $\omega_{\infty}$  as follows:

$$D_{i}(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}) = D_{i}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) + \nabla D_{i}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) \cdot (\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) + \frac{1}{2}(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})^{\top} \nabla^{2} D_{i}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) + o(|\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}|^{2}).$$

$$(43)$$

Since  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}$  is a detailed-balance equilibrium, it holds that  $(k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}^{\mu^a} = (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}^{\nu^a}$  for all a = 1, ..., N, implying that  $D_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = 0$  and  $\nabla D_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = 0$ . Let  $\partial_i = \partial/\partial \omega_i$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \partial_{j}\partial_{i}D_{1}(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}) \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{N} \bigg\{ \partial_{j}\partial_{i} \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\nu^{a}} \Big) \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\nu^{a}} \Big) \\ &+ \partial_{i} \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\nu^{a}} \Big) \partial_{j} \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2}\sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\nu^{a}} \Big) \bigg\}. \end{split}$$

The first term vanishes for  $\overline{\omega} = \omega_{\infty}$ , and for the second term we compute

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{i} \left( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^{a}} \right) \\ &= (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \partial_{i} \prod_{k=1}^{n+1} \overline{\omega_{k}}^{\mu_{k}^{a}/2} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \partial_{i} \prod_{k=1}^{n+1} \overline{\omega_{k}}^{\nu_{k}^{a}/2} \\ &= (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \frac{\mu_{i}^{a}}{2} \frac{1}{\overline{\omega_{i}}} \prod_{k=1}^{n+1} \overline{\omega_{k}}^{\mu_{k}^{a}/2} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \frac{\nu_{i}^{a}}{2} \frac{1}{\overline{\omega_{i}}} \prod_{k=1}^{n+1} \overline{\omega_{k}}^{\nu_{k}^{a}/2} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\overline{\omega_{i}}} \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \mu_{i}^{a} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \nu_{i}^{a} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^{a}} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Evaluating this expression at  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}$  and using  $(k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} = (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}$ , it follows that

$$\partial_i \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\boldsymbol{v}^a} \right) \Big|_{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu_i^a - \nu_i^a}{\omega_{i\infty}} (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}^{\mu^a}.$$

Consequently,

$$\partial_j \partial_i D_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{a=1}^N k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} \frac{\mu_i^a - \nu_i^a}{\omega_{i\infty}} \frac{\mu_j^a - \nu_j^a}{\omega_{j\infty}},$$

and the quadratic term in the Taylor expansion becomes at the point  $\omega_{\infty}$ 

$$\frac{1}{2}(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})^{\top}\nabla^{2}D_{i}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})=\frac{1}{8}\sum_{a=1}^{N}k_{f}^{a}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1}\frac{\mu_{i}^{a}-\nu_{i}^{a}}{\omega_{i\infty}}(\overline{\omega_{i}}-\omega_{i\infty})\right)^{2}.$$

Similarly,  $D_2(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = 0$ ,  $\nabla D_2(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = 0$ , and

$$\frac{1}{2}(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})^{\top} \nabla^2 D_2(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty})(\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{(\overline{\omega_i} - \omega_{i\infty})^2}{\omega_{i\infty}}$$

We insert these expressions into (43) and compute  $D_1(\overline{\omega})/D_2(\overline{\omega})$ . The limit  $\overline{\omega} \to \omega_{\infty}$  such that  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega} = \widehat{M}^0$  then gives the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

We are ready to prove the main result of this subsection.

**Proposition 26.** (Entropy entropy-production inequality; unequal homogeneities) Fix  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}_\infty$  be the equilibrium constructed in Theorem 11. Assume that (36) holds and system (1)–(2) has no boundary equilibria. Then there exists a constant  $\lambda > 0$ , which is constructive up to a finite-dimensional inequality (in the sense of Remark 24), such that

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \geqslant \lambda E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]$$

for all functions  $\mathbf{x} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$  having the same regularity as the corresponding solutions in Theorem 4 and satisfying  $\mathbb{Q}\overline{\mathbf{c}} = \mathbf{M}^0$ .

**Proof.** Lemma 16 shows that

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leqslant C \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left( c_{i}^{1/2} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{z} + \left( \overline{c_{i}}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2} \right).$$
(44)

The first sum is controlled by  $D[\mathbf{x}]$  using Lemma 17 and the Poincaré inequality (with constant  $C_P > 0$ ):

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla c_{i}^{1/2}|^{2} dz \ge C_{p} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} (c_{i}^{1/2} - \overline{c_{i}^{1/2}})^{2} dz.$$

The second sum on the right-hand side is estimated by combining estimate (39), Lemmas 21, and 22:

$$D[\mathbf{x}] \ge C \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_i}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2 \ge C \sum_{i=1}^n \left( \overline{c_i}^{1/2} - c_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2.$$

Adding the previous two inequalities and using (44) then concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

# 3.6. Proof of Theorem 1

The starting point is the discrete entropy inequality (see Remark 8):

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] + \tau D[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}] + C\varepsilon\tau \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{i}^{k}\|_{H^{l}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k-1}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}].$$

Using the entropy-production inequality from Propositions 19 or 26, this becomes

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq (1+\lambda\tau)^{-1}E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k-1}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}]$$

and, by induction,

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq (1+\lambda\tau)^{-k}E[\boldsymbol{x}^{0}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] = (1+\lambda\tau)^{-T/\tau}E[\boldsymbol{x}^{0}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}].$$

Performing the limit  $\tau \to 0$  or, equivalently,  $k \to \infty$ , we find that

$$E[\boldsymbol{x}(T)|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} E[\boldsymbol{x}^{k}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}] \leq e^{-\lambda T} E[\boldsymbol{x}^{0}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty}].$$

Clearly, this inequality also holds for  $t \in (0, T)$  instead of T. Then, by the Csiszár–Kullback–Pinsker inequality in Lemma 18, with constant  $C_{\text{CKP}} > 0$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^n \|x_i(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^1(\Omega)}^2 \leqslant \frac{e^{-\lambda t}}{C_{\mathrm{CKP}}} \int_{\Omega} h(\boldsymbol{\rho}'(0)) \mathrm{d} z.$$

As  $x_i$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0, \infty; L^{\infty}(\Omega))$ , we derive the convergence in  $L^p$  for  $1 \le p < \infty$  from an interpolation argument

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_{i}(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_{i}(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{1-1/p} \|x_{i}(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}^{1/p}$$
$$\leq Ce^{-\lambda t/(2p)}, \quad t > 0,$$

which concludes the proof.

#### 4. Example: A Specific Reaction

As mentioned in Remark 24, the rate of convergence to equilibrium is generally not constructive since the finite-dimensional inequality (41) is proved by a nonconstructive contradiction argument. The derivation of a constructive constant for this inequality seems to be a challenging problem, which goes beyond the scope of this paper. In this section, we show that, potentially in any specific system, the finitedimensional inequality (41) can be proved in a constructive way and thus gives the exponential decay with constructive constant. More specifically, we consider the single reversible reaction

$$A_1 + A_2 \leftrightarrows A_3.$$

We assume for simplicity that the forward and backward reaction constants equal one. Furthermore,  $|\Omega| = 1$ . The corresponding system reads as

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \rho_1 + \operatorname{div} \, \boldsymbol{j}_1 &= r_1(\boldsymbol{x}) = -M_1(x_1 x_2 - x_3), \\ \partial_t \rho_2 + \operatorname{div} \, \boldsymbol{j}_2 &= r_2(\boldsymbol{x}) = -M_2(x_1 x_2 - x_3), \\ \partial_t \rho_3 + \operatorname{div} \, \boldsymbol{j}_3 &= r_3(\boldsymbol{x}) = +M_3(x_1 x_2 - x_3). \end{aligned}$$
(45)

We conclude from total mass conservation  $r_1 + r_2 + r_3 = 0$ , that  $M_1 + M_2 = M_3$ . There are two (formal) conservation laws. The first one follows from

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\Omega} \left(c_1(t) + c_3(t)\right) \mathrm{d}z = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\rho_1(t)}{M_1} + \frac{\rho_3(t)}{M_3}\right) \mathrm{d}z = 0,$$

leading to

$$\overline{c_1}(t) + \overline{c_3}(t) = M_{13} := \overline{c_1^0} + \overline{c_3^0},$$

where  $\overline{c_i^0} = \overline{\rho_i^0} / M_i = \int_{\Omega} \rho_i^0 dz / M_i$ . The second conservation law reads as

$$\overline{c_2}(t) + \overline{c_3}(t) = M_{23} := \overline{c_2^0} + \overline{c_3^0}.$$

The matrix  $\mathbb{Q}$  in this case is

$$\mathbb{Q} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and we can choose  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} = (M_1, M_2)$  since the conservation of total mass,  $M_1 + M_2 = M_3$ , gives  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q} = (M_1, M_2, M_3) = \boldsymbol{M}^{\top}$ . The initial mass vector  $\boldsymbol{M}^0 = (M_{13}, M_{23})^{\top}$  satisfies  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \boldsymbol{M}^0 = M_1 M_{13} + M_2 M_{23} = 1$ . It is not difficult to check that the system is detailed balanced and possesses no boundary equilibria, and thus, for any fixed masses  $M_{13} > 0$ ,  $M_{23} > 0$ , there exists a unique positive detailed balance equilibrium  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty} = (x_{1\infty}, x_{2\infty}, x_{3\infty})^{\top} \in (0, 1)^3$  satisfying

$$\begin{aligned} x_{1\infty} x_{2\infty} &= x_{3\infty}, \quad x_{1\infty} + x_{2\infty} + x_{3\infty} = 1, \\ c_{1\infty} + c_{3\infty} &= M_{13}, \quad c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty} = M_{23}, \end{aligned}$$
(46)

where  $c_{i\infty} = c_{\infty} x_{i\infty}$  and  $c_{\infty} = (M_1 x_{1\infty} + M_2 x_{2\infty} + M_3 x_{3\infty})^{-1}$ . We claim that we can prove Lemma 22 with a constructive constant. More precisely, we show the following result:

**Lemma 27.** There exists a constructive constant  $C_0 > 0$ , only depending on  $c_{i\infty}$  and the upper bounds of  $\overline{c_i}$  (i = 1, 2, 3), such that

$$\left(\sqrt{\overline{c_1}}\sqrt{\overline{c_2}} - \sqrt{\overline{c_3}}\sqrt{\overline{c}}\right)^2 \ge C_0 \sum_{i=1}^3 \left(\sqrt{\overline{c_i}} - \sqrt{c_{i\infty}}\right)^2 \tag{47}$$

for all nonnegative numbers  $\overline{c_i}$  and  $\overline{c}$  satisfying

$$\overline{c_1} + \overline{c_3} = M_{13} = c_{1\infty} + c_{3\infty}, 
\overline{c_2} + \overline{c_3} = M_{23} = c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty}, 
\overline{c_1} + \overline{c_2} + \overline{c_3} = \overline{c}.$$
(48)

**Proof.** We introduce new variables  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3, \eta \in [-1, \infty)$  by

$$\overline{c_i} = c_{i\infty}(1+\mu_i)^2$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, 3, \ \overline{c} = c_{\infty}(1+\eta)^2$ ,

recalling that  $c_{\infty} = c_{1\infty} + c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty}$ . The uniform bounds for  $\overline{c_i}$  show that there exists a constant  $\mu_{\max} > 0$  such that  $|\mu_i| \le \mu_{\max}$  for i = 1, 2, 3. Then the left-hand side of (47) can be formulated as

$$\left(\sqrt{c_1}\sqrt{c_2} - \sqrt{c_3}\sqrt{c}\right)^2 = \left(c_{1\infty}^{1/2}c_{2\infty}^{1/2}(1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - c_{3\infty}^{1/2}c_{\infty}^{1/2}(1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2$$
  
=  $c_{1,\infty}c_{2\infty}\left((1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2,$ 

where we have used  $c_{1\infty}c_{2\infty} = x_{1\infty}x_{2\infty}c_{\infty}^2 = x_{3\infty}c_{\infty}^2 = c_{3\infty}c_{\infty}$ , which follows from  $x_{i\infty} = c_{i\infty}/c_{\infty}$  and the first equation in (46). Furthermore, the right-hand side of (47) is estimated from above by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left( \sqrt{c_i} - \sqrt{c_{i\infty}} \right)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{3} c_{i\infty} \mu_i^2 \leqslant \max_{i=1,2,3} c_{i\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mu_i^2.$$

Therefore, it remains to prove the inequality

$$\left((1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2 \ge C^* \sum_{i=1}^3 \mu_i^2$$
(49)

for some constructive constant  $C^* > 0$ .

In terms of the new variables  $\mu_i$ , the conservation laws in (48) can be written as

$$c_{1\infty}(\mu_1^2 + 2\mu_1) + c_{3\infty}(\mu_3^2 + 2\mu_3) = 0,$$
  

$$c_{2\infty}(\mu_2^2 + 2\mu_2) + c_{3\infty}(\mu_3^2 + 2\mu_3) = 0.$$
(50)

Together with the last equation in (48), we obtain

$$c_{1\infty}(\mu_1^2 + 2\mu_1) = c_{2\infty}(\mu_2^2 + 2\mu_2) = c_{\infty}(\eta^2 + 2\eta).$$
(51)

Since  $\mu_i \ge -1$  and  $\eta \ge -1$ , we deduce from (50) and (51) that  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$ , and  $\eta$  always have the same sign and  $\mu_3$  has the opposite sign. We consider therefore two cases.

*Case 1:*  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \eta \ge 0$  and  $\mu_3 \le 0$ . Since  $\eta^2 + 2\eta \ge 0$  and  $c_{\infty} = c_{1\infty} + c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty}$ , it follows from (51) that

$$c_{1\infty}(\mu_1^2 + 2\mu_1) = c_{\infty}(\eta^2 + 2\eta) \ge c_{1\infty}(\eta^2 + 2\eta)$$

and hence  $\mu_1 \ge \eta$  (as  $z \mapsto z^2 + 2z$  is increasing on  $[-1, \infty)$ ). Similarly, we find that  $\mu_2 \ge \eta$ . Therefore,

$$(1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta) = (\mu_1 - \eta) + \mu_2 + \mu_1\mu_2 + (-\mu_3) + (-\mu_3)\eta \ge 0.$$

Taking the square of this equation, it follows that

$$\left( (1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta) \right)^2 \ge \left( (\mu_1 - \eta) + \mu_2 + (-\mu_3) \right)^2$$
  
$$\ge (\mu_1 - \eta)^2 + \mu_2^2 + (-\mu_3)^2 \ge \mu_2^2 + \mu_3^2.$$

Exchanging the roles of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$ , we find that

$$\left((1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2 \ge \mu_1^2 + \mu_3^2.$$

Adding these inequalities, we have proved (49) with  $C^* = \frac{1}{2}$ .

*Case 2:*  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \eta \leq 0$  and  $\mu_3 \geq 0$ . Because of  $\eta^2 + 2\eta \leq 0$ , we have

$$c_{1\infty}(\mu_1^2 + 2\mu_1) = c_{\infty}(\eta^2 + 2\eta) \leqslant c_{1\infty}(\eta^2 + 2\eta)$$

which yields  $\mu_1 \leq \eta$ . Similarly,  $\mu_2 \leq \eta$ . A similar argument as in case 1 leads to

$$(1+\mu_3)(1+\eta) - (1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) = \mu_3(1+\eta) + (\eta-\mu_1) + (-\mu_2)(1+\mu_1) \ge 0.$$

Hence, taking the square,

$$\left( (1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta) \right)^2 \ge \left( \mu_3(1+\eta) + (\eta-\mu_1) + (-\mu_2)(1+\mu_1) \right)^2 \ge \mu_3^2 (1+\eta)^2.$$
 (52)

We deduce from (51) that

$$c_{\infty}(1+\eta)^{2} = c_{\infty} + c_{\infty}(\eta^{2}+2\eta) = c_{\infty} + c_{1\infty}(\mu_{1}^{2}+2\mu_{1})$$
$$= c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty} + c_{1\infty}(1+\mu_{1})^{2}.$$

Consequently,  $(1 + \eta)^2 \ge (c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty})/c_{\infty}$  and (52) becomes

$$\left((1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2 \ge \frac{c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty}}{c_{\infty}}\mu_3^2.$$
 (53)

We infer from  $c_{3\infty}(\mu_3^2 + 2\mu_3) = -c_{1\infty}(\mu_1^2 + 2\mu_1)$  (see (50)) that

$$\mu_3 = \frac{c_{1\infty}(\mu_1 + 2)}{c_{3\infty}(\mu_3 + 2)}(-\mu_1) \ge \frac{c_{1\infty}}{c_{3\infty}(\mu_{\max} + 2)}(-\mu_1) \ge 0,$$

where  $\mu_{\text{max}} = \max_{i=1,2,3} \mu_i$ . Taking the square gives

$$\mu_3^2 \ge \frac{c_{1\infty}^2}{c_{3\infty}^2(\mu_{\max}+2)^2}\mu_1^2,$$

and similarly,

$$\mu_3^2 \ge \frac{c_{2\infty}^2}{c_{3\infty}^2(\mu_{\max}+2)^2}\mu_2^2.$$

We employ these bounds in (53) to obtain

$$\left((1+\mu_1)(1+\mu_2) - (1+\mu_3)(1+\eta)\right)^2 \ge C^*(\mu_1^2 + \mu_2^2 + \mu_3^2),$$

where

$$C^* = \frac{1}{3} \min \left\{ \frac{c_{2\infty} + c_{3\infty}}{c_{\infty}}, \frac{c_{1\infty}^2}{c_{3\infty}^2 (\mu_{\max} + 2)^2}, \frac{c_{2\infty}^2}{c_{3\infty}^2 (\mu_{\max} + 2)^2} \mu_2^2 \right\}.$$

This proves (49) and completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

#### 5. Convergence to Equilibrium for Complex-Balance Systems

One of the main assumptions of this paper is the detailed-balance condition (5). This condition was used extensively in the thermodynamic community and it leads to a natural entropy functional that is the core tool for the global existence analysis and the large-time asymptotics. However, the detailed-balance condition requires that the reaction system is reversible which is quite restrictive. In chemical reaction network theory, it is well known that there exists a much larger class of reaction systems, namely so-called *complex-balance systems* which also exhibits an entropy structure; see, e.g., [18,23,25] for reaction–diffusion systems. In this section, we show that the global existence and large-time behavior results can be extended to systems satisfying the complex-balance condition. We only highlight the differences of the proofs and present full proofs only when necessary:

Consider *n* constituents  $A_i$  reacting in the following *N* reactions,

$$y_{1,a}A_1 + \dots + y_{n,a}A_n \xrightarrow{k^a} y'_{1,a}A_1 + \dots + y'_{n,a}A_n$$
 for  $a = 1, \dots, N$ ,

where  $k^a > 0$  is the reaction rate constant and  $y_{i,a}, y'_{i,a} \in \{0\} \cup [1, \infty)$  are the stoichiometric coefficients. We set  $\mathbf{y}_a = (y_{1,a}, \dots, y_{n,a})$  and  $\mathbf{y}'_a = (y'_{1,a}, \dots, y'_{n,a})$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{C} = \{\mathbf{y}_a, \mathbf{y}'_a\}_{a=1,\dots,N}$  the set of all complexes. We use as in [18] the convention that the primed complexes  $\mathbf{y}'_a \in \mathcal{C}$  denote the product of the *a*th reaction, and the unprimed complexes  $\mathbf{y}_a \in \mathcal{C}$  denote the reactant. Note that it may happen that  $\mathbf{y}_a = \mathbf{y}'_b$  for some  $a, b \in \{1, \dots, N\}$ . This means that a complex can be a reactant for one reaction and a product for another reaction.

The Maxwell–Stefan diffusion system consists of equations (1), (3), and

$$r_i(\mathbf{x}) = M_i \sum_{a=1}^N k^a (y'_{i,a} - y_{i,a}) \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \quad \text{with } \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a} = \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{y_{i,a}}.$$
 (54)

We assume again the conservation of total mass, expressed as

$$\sum_{i=1}^n r_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = 0.$$

**Definition 1.** (*Complex-balance condition*) A homogeneous equilibrium state  $x_{\infty}$  is called a *complex-balance equilibrium* if for any  $y \in C$ , it holds that

$$\sum_{a \in \{1,\dots,N\}: \mathbf{y}_a = \mathbf{y}} k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a} = \sum_{b \in \{1,\dots,N\}: \mathbf{y}_b' = \mathbf{y}} k^b \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_b}.$$
 (55)

Roughly speaking,  $x_{\infty}$  is a complex-balance equilibrium if for any complex  $y \in C$  the total input into each complex balances the total flow out of the complex. The condition is weaker than detailed balance since it does not require each step in the forward reaction to be balanced by a reverse reaction. We say that system (1), (3), and (54) is a complex-balance system if it admits a positive complex-balance equilibrium. Already Boltzmann studied complex-balance systems in the context of kinetic theory, under the name of semi-detailed balance [4]. For chemical reaction systems, this condition was systematically studied in [22,32].

The existence of global weak solutions to (1), (3), and (54) follows as in Section 2. We just have to verify that Lemma 7 also holds in the case of the reaction terms (54).

**Lemma 28.** Let  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty}$  be a positive complex-balance equilibrium and let the entropy variable  $\mathbf{w} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  be defined by  $w_i = \frac{\partial h}{\partial \rho_i}$ , i = 1, ..., n-1, where h is given by (8). Then for all  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , considered as a function of  $\mathbf{w}$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\boldsymbol{x}) w_i \leqslant 0.$$

**Proof.** By (18) and definition (54) of  $r_i$ , we compute

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\mathbf{x}) w_i &= \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{r_i(\mathbf{x})}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}} = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{a=1}^N k^a (y'_{i,a} - y_{i,a}) \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \ln \frac{x_i}{x_{i\infty}} \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^N k^a \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \ln \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a' - \mathbf{y}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a' - \mathbf{y}}} \\ &= -\sum_{a=1}^N k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \left\{ \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} \ln \left( \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} \middle/ \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a'}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} \right) - \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} + \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a'}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} \right\} \\ &- \sum_{a=1}^N k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \left( \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} - \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a'}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} \right). \end{split}$$

The expression in the curly brackets  $\{\cdots\}$  equals  $\Psi(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_a}/\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}, \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}'_a}/\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}'_a})$ , where  $\Psi(x, y) = x \ln(x/y) - x + y$  is a nonnegative function. Hence, the first expression on the right-hand side is nonpositive. We claim that the second expression vanishes. Then  $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i(\mathbf{x}) w_i \leq 0$ . Indeed, by the complex-balance condition (55),

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} k^{a} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}} \left( \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}}} - \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}'}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}'}} \right) = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{C}} \left( \sum_{a: \mathbf{y}_{a} = \mathbf{y}} k^{a} \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}} - \sum_{b: \mathbf{y}_{b}' = \mathbf{y}} k^{b} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}} \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}'}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}'}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{C}} \left( \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}} \sum_{a: \mathbf{y}_{a} = \mathbf{y}} k^{a} - \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}}} \sum_{b: \mathbf{y}_{b}' = \mathbf{y}} k^{b} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}}} \left( \sum_{a: \mathbf{y}_{a} = \mathbf{y}} k^{a} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}} - \sum_{b: \mathbf{y}_{b}' = \mathbf{y}} k^{b} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}} \right) = 0.$$

This shows the claim and ends the proof.  $\Box$ 

Next, we show the existence of a unique complex-balance equilibrium. For this, we denote as before by  $\mathbb{W} = (\mathbf{y}'_a - \mathbf{y}_a)_{a=1,...,N} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times N}$  the Wegscheider matrix, set  $m = \dim(\ker \mathbb{W}) > 0$ , and denote by  $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  the matrix whose rows form a basis of ker( $\mathbb{W}^T$ ). As in Section 3.1, the conservation laws are given by

$$\mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{c}}(t) = \boldsymbol{M}^0 := \mathbb{Q}\overline{\boldsymbol{c}^0}, \quad t > 0,$$

and there exists  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \in \mathbb{R}^{1 \times m}$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbb{Q} = \boldsymbol{M}^{\top}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} \boldsymbol{M}^{0} = 1$ .

**Proposition 29.** (Existence of a complex-balance equilibrium) Let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  be an initial mass vector satisfying  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . Then there exists a unique positive complex-balance equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  satisfying (55) and

$$\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{M}^0 \sum_{i=1}^n M_i x_{i\infty}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^n x_{i\infty} = 1.$$
 (56)

The proof follows from the case of detailed balance with the help of the following lemma:

**Lemma 30.** Let  $x_{\infty}$  be a positive complex-balance equilibrium. Then the following two statements are equivalent:

- (i) The vector  $\mathbf{x}_* \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  is a complex-balance equilibrium.
- (ii) It holds for all a = 1, ..., N that

$$rac{x_*^{y_a}}{x_*^{y_a'}}=rac{x_\infty^{y_a}}{x_\infty^{y_a'}}$$

**Proof.** Let (ii) hold. We compute

$$\sum_{a:\mathbf{y}_a=\mathbf{y}} k^a \mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}_a} = \sum_{a:\mathbf{y}_a=\mathbf{y}} k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}} = \frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}}} \sum_{a:\mathbf{y}_a=\mathbf{y}} k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}}} \sum_{b:\mathbf{y}_b'=\mathbf{y}} k^b \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_b} = \sum_{b:\mathbf{y}_b'=\mathbf{y}} k^b \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_b} \frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}_b}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_b'}}.$$

Taking into account (ii), it follows that

$$\sum_{a:\mathbf{y}_{a}=\mathbf{y}} k^{a} \mathbf{x}_{*}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}} = \sum_{b:\mathbf{y}_{b}'=\mathbf{y}} k^{b} \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}} \frac{\mathbf{x}_{*}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}}} = \sum_{b:\mathbf{y}_{b}'=\mathbf{y}} k^{b} \mathbf{x}_{*}^{\mathbf{y}_{b}},$$

17.

i.e.,  $x_*$  is a complex-balance equilibrium.

To show that (i) implies (ii), let  $\mathbf{x}_*$  be a complex-balance equilibrium. Then  $r_i(\mathbf{x}_*) = 0$  for all i = 1, ..., n, and the proof of Lemma 28 shows that

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{r_i(\mathbf{x}_*)}{M_i} \ln \frac{x_{i*}}{x_{i\infty}} = -\sum_{a=1}^{N} k^a \mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a} \Psi\left(\frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}, \frac{\mathbf{x}_*^{\mathbf{y}_a}}{\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_a}}\right)$$

where we recall that  $\Psi(x, y) = x \ln(x/y) - x + y \ge 0$  and  $\Psi(x, y) = 0$  if and only if x = y. The last property implies that  $\mathbf{x}_{*}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}}/\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}} = \mathbf{x}_{*}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}'}/\mathbf{x}_{\infty}^{\mathbf{y}_{a}}$ , which is (ii).  $\Box$ 

We prove a result similar to that one stated in Lemma 20.

**Lemma 31.** The vector  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = (\overline{c_1}, \dots, \overline{c_n}, \overline{c}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  satisfies

$$\sqrt{\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\omega_{\infty}}}^{\mu^{a}} = \sqrt{\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\omega_{\infty}}}^{\nu^{a}} \quad for \ all \ a = 1, \dots, N, \quad \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0}, \tag{57}$$

if and only if  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty} = (c_{1\infty}, \dots, c_{n\infty}, c_{\infty})$  and  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\infty} = (c_{1\infty}/c_{\infty}, \dots, c_{n\infty}/c_{\infty})$ is a complex-balance equilibrium. Here,  $c_{\infty} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i\infty}$  and  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}$  and  $\widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0}$  are defined in (40).

**Proof.** Set  $x_i = \overline{c_i}/\overline{c}$  for i = 1, ..., n. Then the first equation in (57) implies that, using definition (22) of  $\mu^a$  and  $\nu^a$ ,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\overline{c_i}^{y_{i,a}}}{c_{i\infty}^{y_{i,a}}} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\overline{c_i}^{y'_{i,a}}}{c_{i\infty}^{y'_{i,a}}} \frac{\overline{c}^{\gamma^a}}{c_{\infty}^{\gamma^a}}, \quad \text{where } \gamma^a = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i,a} - y'_{i,a})$$

This is equivalent to

$$\frac{x^{y_a}}{x_{\infty}^{y_a}} = \frac{x^{y'_a}}{x_{\infty}^{y'_a}}$$

We conclude from Lemma 30 that x is a complex-balance equilibrium. Furthermore, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i x_i = \frac{1}{\overline{c}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i \overline{c_i} = \frac{1}{\overline{c}}.$$

Thus, we deduce from the conservation law  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\omega} = \widehat{M}^0$  that

$$\mathbb{Q}\boldsymbol{x} = \frac{1}{\overline{c}}\boldsymbol{M}^0 = \boldsymbol{M}^0 \sum_{i=1}^n M_i \boldsymbol{x}_i.$$

At this point, we can apply Proposition 29 to infer the existence of a unique vector  $x = x_{\infty}$  which implies that  $\overline{\omega} = \omega_{\infty}$ .  $\Box$ 

Finally, we show an inequality which is related to that one in Lemma 22.

**Lemma 32.** There exists a nonconstructive constant C > 0 such that

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( \sqrt{\frac{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}} - \sqrt{\frac{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \right)^{2} \ge C \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}_{i}}^{1/2} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^{2}$$

for all  $\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$  satisfying  $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0$ .

**Proof.** We proceed similarly as in the proofs of Lemmas 25 and 22. We need to show that

$$\lambda := \inf_{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+: \widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^0} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^N \left( \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}/\boldsymbol{\omega}_\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}/\boldsymbol{\omega}_\infty}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \overline{\omega_i}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2} \right)^2} > 0.$$

In view of Lemma 31 and the absence of boundary equilibria, it holds  $\lambda > 0$  if and only if  $\delta > 0$ , where

$$\delta = \liminf_{\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}=\widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0}, \ \overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \to \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}} \frac{\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left(\sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}}/\boldsymbol{\omega_{\infty}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}} - \sqrt{\boldsymbol{\omega}}/\boldsymbol{\omega_{\infty}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}}\right)^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \left(\overline{\omega_{i}}^{1/2} - \omega_{i\infty}^{1/2}\right)^{2}}$$
$$= \liminf_{\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}=\widehat{\boldsymbol{M}}^{0}, \ \overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}} \to \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\infty}} \frac{2\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (y_{i,a} - y'_{i,a})(\overline{\omega_{i}} - \omega_{i\infty})\omega_{i\infty}^{-1}\right)^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{\omega_{i}} - \omega_{i\infty})^{2}\omega_{i\infty}^{-1}}.$$

This follows from a Taylor expansion as in the proof of Lemma 25. Now, we can follow exactly the arguments in the proof of Lemma 22 to infer that  $\delta > 0$  and consequently  $\lambda > 0$ , finishing the proof.  $\Box$ 

The results in this subsection are sufficient to apply the proof of Theorem 1, thus leading to the following main theorem.

# Theorem 33. (Convergence to equilibrium for complex-balance systems)

Let Assumptions (A1) and (A3) hold and let system (1), (54) be complex balanced. Fix an initial mass vector  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  satisfying  $\zeta M^0 = 1$ . Then

- (i) There exists a global bounded weak solution  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = (\rho_1, \dots, \rho_n)^\top$  to (1), (3) with reaction terms (54) in the sense of Theorem 4;
- (ii) There exists a unique positive complex-balance equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$  satisfying (55) and (56);
- (iii) Assume in addition that system (1), (54) has no boundary equilibria. Then there exist constants C > 0 and  $\lambda > 0$ , which are constructive up to a finitedimensional inequality, such that if  $\rho^0$  satisfies additionally  $\mathbb{Q} \int_{\Omega} c^0 dz = M^0$ , the following exponential convergence to equilibrium holds:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|x_i(t) - x_{i\infty}\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \leq C e^{-\lambda t/(2p)} E[\mathbf{x}^0 | \mathbf{x}_{\infty}]^{1/(2p)}, \quad t > 0,$$

where  $1 \leq p < \infty$ ,  $x_i = \rho_i/(cM_i)$  with  $c = \sum_{i=1}^n \rho_i/M_i$ , and  $E[\mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}_{\infty}]$  is the relative entropy defined in (9),  $\boldsymbol{\rho}$  is the solution constructed in (i), and  $\mathbf{x}_{\infty}$  is constructed in (ii).

Acknowledgements. Open access funding provided by Austrian Science Fund (FWF).

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# Appendix A. Proof of Lemma 21

The proof of Lemma 21 is partially inspired by the proof of Lemma 2.7 in [25]. We divide the proof into two steps, which are presented in Lemmas 34 and 35. For convenience, we set  $W_i := \omega_i^{1/2}$  for i = 1, ..., n + 1 and use the notation

$$W = (W_1, \ldots, W_{n+1}), \quad \overline{W} = (\overline{W_1}, \ldots, \overline{W}_{n+1}).$$

Moreover, we define

$$\delta_i(x) = W_i(x) - \overline{W_i} = W_i(x) - \int_{\Omega} W_i dz, \quad x \in \Omega, \ i = 1, \dots, n+1.$$

**Lemma 34.** There exists a constant C > 0 depending on  $\Omega$ , n, N,  $k_f^a$ , and  $k_b^a$  (a = 1, ..., N) such that

$$\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] \ge C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2,$$
(58)

where  $\widetilde{D}$  is defined in (39).

**Proof.** We use the elementary inequality  $(x - y) \ln(x/y) \ge 4(\sqrt{x} - \sqrt{y})^2$  to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( k_f^a \omega^{\mu^a} - k_b^a \omega^{\nu^a} \right) \ln \frac{k_f^a \omega^{\mu^a}}{k_b^a \omega^{\nu^a}} dz \ge 4 \int_{\Omega} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} W^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} W^{\nu^a} \right)^2 dz.$$

This gives

$$\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] \geq \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\nabla W_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + 4 \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|(k_f^a)^{1/2} W^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} W^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$

The Poincaré inequality

$$\left\|\nabla W_{i}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \geq C_{P}\left\|\delta_{i}\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

then shows that

$$\widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] \ge C_P \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + 4 \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|(k_f^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$
(59)

Let L > 0. We split  $\Omega$  into the two domains

 $\Omega_L = \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\delta_i(x)| \leqslant L \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n+1 \right\}, \quad \Omega_L^c = \Omega \setminus \Omega_L.$ 

By Taylor expansion, we may write  $W_i^{\mu_i^a} = (\overline{W_i} + \delta_i)^{\mu_i^a} = \overline{W_i}^{\mu_i^a} + R_i^* (\overline{W_i}, \delta_i) \delta_i$ , where  $R_i^*$  depends continuously on  $\overline{W_i}$  and  $\delta_i$ . Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \|(k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ & \geqslant \int_{\Omega_{L}} \left| (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{W_{i}} + \delta_{i})^{\mu_{i}^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{W_{i}} + \delta_{i})^{\nu_{i}^{a}} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}z \\ & = \int_{\Omega_{L}} \left| (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{W_{i}}^{\mu_{i}^{a}} + R_{i}^{*} \delta_{i}) - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} (\overline{W_{i}}^{\nu_{i}^{a}} + R_{i}^{*} \delta_{i}) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}z \\ & = \int_{\Omega_{L}} \left| (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} + Q^{*} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \delta_{i} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}z, \end{split}$$

where  $Q^*$  depends continously on  $R_1^*, \ldots, R_{n+1}^*$  and  $\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_{n+1}$ . With the inequalities  $(x+y)^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}(x^2-y^2)$  and  $(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} x_i)^2 \le (n+1)\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} x_i^2$ , we estimate

$$\begin{split} \|(k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ & \geq \frac{1}{2} |\Omega_{L}| \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \Big)^{2} - \int_{\Omega_{L}} (\mathcal{Q}^{*})^{2} (n+1) \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} |\delta_{i}|^{2} \mathrm{d}z \\ & \geq \frac{1}{2} |\Omega_{L}| \Big( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{a}} \Big)^{2} - C(L)(n+1) \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we used the bounds  $|\delta_i| \leq L$  in  $\Omega_L$  and  $\overline{W_i} \leq C$  in  $\Omega$  to estimate  $Q^*$ . Summing over a = 1, ..., N, this gives

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \| (k_f^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \ge \frac{1}{2} |\Omega_L| \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2 - C(L)N(n+1) \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \| \delta_i \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$
(60)

In  $\Omega_L^c$ , we wish to estimate  $\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$  from below. For this, we observe that

$$\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2 \leqslant C.$$

Then, since  $\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} |\delta_i| \ge L$  on  $\Omega_L^c$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{\Omega_L^c} |\delta_i|^2 dz \ge \frac{1}{n+1} \int_{\Omega_L^c} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} |\delta_i|\right)^2 dz$$
$$\ge \frac{L^2 |\Omega_L^c|}{n+1} \ge \frac{L^2 |\Omega_L^c|}{(n+1)C} \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{W}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{W}^{\nu^a} \right)^2.$$
(61)

Inserting (60) and (61) into (59), it follows for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] &\geq C_P \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + 4\theta \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|(k_f^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{W}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \\ &\geq \frac{C_P}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \frac{C_P}{2} \frac{L^2 |\Omega_L^c|}{(n+1)C} \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2 \\ &+ 2\theta |\Omega_L| \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2 - 4\theta C(L)(n+1) \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \\ &\geq C \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2, \end{split}$$

where we have chosen  $\theta > 0$  sufficiently small in the last step. This finishes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 35.** There exists a constant C > 0 depending on  $\Omega$ , n, N,  $k_f^a$ , and  $k_b^a$  (a = 1, ..., N) such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 dz + \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{W}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{W}^{\nu^a} \right)^2 \\ \ge C \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^a} \right)^2.$$
(62)

Proof. It follows from

$$\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = \|W_i - \overline{W_i}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = \overline{\omega_i} - \overline{W_i}^2 = \left(\sqrt{\overline{\omega_i}} - \overline{W_i}\right)\left(\sqrt{\overline{\omega_i}} + \overline{W_i}\right)$$

that

$$\overline{W_i} = \sqrt{\overline{\omega_i}} - Z_i \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}, \text{ where } Z_i = \frac{\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}}{\sqrt{\overline{\omega_i}} + \overline{W_i}} \ge 0.$$

Since

$$Z_i^2 = \frac{\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2}{(\sqrt{\omega_i} + \overline{W_i})^2} = \frac{\overline{\omega_i} - \overline{W_i}^2}{(\sqrt{\omega_i} + \overline{W_i})^2} = \frac{\sqrt{\omega_i} - \overline{W_i}}{\sqrt{\omega_i} + \overline{W_i}} \leqslant 1,$$

we infer that  $0 \leq Z_i \leq 1$ .

We continue by performing a Taylor expansion:

$$\overline{W}^{\mu^{a}} = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \sqrt{\overline{\omega_{i}}} - Z_{i} \| \delta_{i} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right)^{\mu_{i}^{a}} = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \left( \sqrt{\overline{\omega_{i}}}^{\mu_{i}^{a}} + R_{i}^{*} \| \delta_{i} \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right),$$

where  $R_i^*$  depends continuously on  $Z_i$  and  $\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$ . Therefore, with another function  $S^*$  depending continuously on  $Z_i$  and  $\|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$ ,

$$\overline{W}^{\mu^a} = \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} + S^* \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

This shows that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\nu^{a}} \right)^{2} \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^{a}} + \left( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \right) S^{*} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right)^{2} \\ &\geqslant \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_{f}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^{a}} - (k_{b}^{a})^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\nu^{a}} \right)^{2} - C(n, N) (S^{*})^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Then, by the Poincaré inequality with constant  $C_P$ , for some  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\mathbf{W}}^{\mathbf{v}^a} \right)^2 \\ & \geqslant C_P \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \theta \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mathbf{v}^a} \right)^2 \\ & \geqslant C_P \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \frac{\theta}{2} \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mathbf{v}^a} \right)^2 \\ & - \theta C(n, N) (S^*)^2 \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \|\delta_i\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \\ & \geqslant \frac{\theta}{2} \sum_{a=1}^N \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mu^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\omega}}^{\mathbf{v}^a} \right)^2. \end{split}$$

The last step follows after choosing  $\theta > 0$  sufficiently small. This is possible since  $S^*$  is bounded. The proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

Proof of Lemma 21. Applying first (58) and then (62) leads to

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{D}[\boldsymbol{\omega}] &\geq \frac{C}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z \\ &+ \frac{C}{2} \bigg( \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\Omega} \left( k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right) \ln \frac{k_f^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a}}{k_b^a \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a}} \mathrm{d}z \bigg) \\ &\geq \frac{C}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \omega_i^{1/2}|^2 \mathrm{d}z + C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \overline{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2 \\ &\geq C \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( (k_f^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}^a} - (k_b^a)^{1/2} \sqrt{\overline{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}^{\boldsymbol{\nu}^a} \right)^2. \end{split}$$

The proof is finished.

#### References

1. ANDERSON, D.F.: A proof of the global attractor conjecture in the single linkage class case. *SIAM J. Appl. Math.* **71**, 1487–1508, 2011

- 2. ANWASIA, B., BISI, M., SALVARANI, F., SOARES, A.J.: On the Maxwell–Stefan diffusion limit for a reactive mixture of polyatomic gases in non-isothermal setting. arXiv:1906.11766.
- ANWASIA, B., GONÇALVES, P., SOARES, A.J.: From the simple reacting sphere kinetic model to the reaction-diffusion system of Maxwell-Stefan type. *Commun. Math. Sci.* 17, 507–538, 2019
- 4. BOLTZMANN, L.: Neuer Beweis zweier Sätze über das Wärmegleichgewicht unter mehratomigen Gasmoleklen. Sitzungsberichte der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien 95, 153–164, 1887
- BOTHE, D.: On the Maxwell–Stefan equations to multicomponent diffusion. In: Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, pp. 81–93. Springer, Basel, 2011
- BOTHE, D., DREYER, W.: Continuum thermodynamics of chemically reacting fluid mixtures. Acta Mech. 226, 1757–1805, 2015
- BOTHE, D., PRÜSS, J.: Modeling and analysis of reactive multi-component two-phase flows with mass transfer and phase transition: the isothermal incompressible case. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Sys. Ser. S* 10, 673–696, 2017
- BOUDIN, L., GÖTZ, D., GREC, B.: Diffusion models of multicomponent mixtures in the lung. ESAIM Proc. 30, 91–104, 2010
- 9. BOUDIN, L., GREC, B., SALVARANI, F.: The Maxwell–Stefan diffusion limit for a kinetic model of mixtures. *Acta Appl. Math.* **136**, 79–90, 2015
- CÁCERES, M., CAÑIZO, J.: Close-to-equilibrium behaviour of quadratic reaction– diffusion systems with detailed balance. *Nonlinear Anal.* 159, 62–84, 2017
- 11. CHEN, L., JÜNGEL, A.: Analysis of a parabolic cross-diffusion population model without self-diffusion. J. Differ. Eqs. 224, 39–59, 2006
- CHEN, X., JÜNGEL, A.: Analysis of an incompressible Navier–Stokes–Maxwell–Stefan system. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 340, 471–497, 2015
- CHEN, X., JÜNGEL, A.: Weak-strong uniqueness of renormalized solutions to reactioncross-diffusion systems. *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 29, 237–270, 2019
- 14. CHAI, Z., GUO, Z., WANG, L., SHI, B.: Maxwell–Stefan-theory-based lattice Boltzmann model for diffusion in multicomponent mixtures. *Phys. Rev. E* **99**, 023312, 2019
- 15. CONWAY, E., HOFF, D., SMOLLER, J.: Large time behavior of solutions of systems of nonlinear reaction–diffusion equations. *SIAM J. Appl. Math.* **35**, 1–16, 1978
- CRACIUN, G.: Toric differential inclusions and a proof of the Global Attractor Conjecture. Submitted for publication, 2015. arXiv:1501.02860v2.
- 17. DESVILLETTES, L., FELLNER, K.: Exponential decay toward equilibrium via entropy methods for reaction–diffusion equations. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* **319**, 157–176, 2006
- DESVILLETTES, L., FELLNER, K., TANG, B.Q.: Trend to equilibrium for reaction– diffusion systems arising from complex balanced chemical reaction networks. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 49, 2666–2709, 2017
- DESVILLETTES, L., FELLNER, K.: Exponential convergence to equilibrium for nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems arising in reversible chemistry. In: PÖTZSCHE, C., HEUBERGER, C., KALTENBACHER, B., RENDL, F. (eds.) System Modeling and Optimization, CSMO 2013, IFIP Advances in Information and Communication TechnologySpringer. vol. 443, pp. 96–104, 2014
- Di FRANCESCO, M., FELLNER, K., MARKOWICH, P.: The entropy dissipation method for spatially inhomogeneous reaction–diffusion-type systems. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A* 464, 3273–3300, 2008
- 21. FEINBERG, M.: The existence and uniqueness of steady states for a class of chemical reaction networks. *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.* **132**, 311–370, 1995
- FEINBERG, M., HORN, F.: Dynamics of open chemical systems and the algebraic structure of the underlying reaction network. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 29, 775–787, 1974
- 23. FELLNER, K., PRAGER, W., TANG, B.Q.: The entropy method for reaction–diffusion systems without detailed balance: first order chemical reaction networks. *Kinetic Related Models* **10**, 1055–1087, 2017

- FELLNER, K., TANG, B.Q.: Explicit exponential convergence to equilibrium for nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems with detailed balance condition. *Nonlin. Anal.* 159, 145–180, 2017
- FELLNER, K., TANG, B.Q.: Convergence to equilibrium of renormalised solutions to nonlinear chemical reaction–diffusion systems. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 69.3, (30 pages) 2018.
- 26. FITZGERALD, W., HOLLIS, S., MORGAN, J.: Stability and Lyapunov functions for reaction-diffusion systems. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 28, 595–610, 1997
- 27. GIOVANGIGLI, V.: Multicomponent Flow Modeling. Birkhäuser, Basel 1999
- 28. GOPALKRISHNAN, M., MILLER, E., SHIU, A.: A geometric approach to the global attractor conjecture. *SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst.* **13**, 758–797, 2014
- GRÖGER, K.: Asymptotic behavior of solutions to a class of diffusion-reaction equations. Math. Nachr. 112, 19–33, 1983
- GRÖGER, K.: On the existence of steady states of certain reaction-diffusion systems. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 92, 297–306, 1986
- HERBERG, M., MEYRIES, M., PRÜSS, J., WILKE, M.: Reaction-diffusion systems of Maxwell–Stefan type with reversible mass-action kinetics. *Nonlinear Anal.* 159, 264– 284, 2017
- HORN, F.: Necessary and sufficient conditions for complex balancing in chemical kinetics. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 49, 172–186, 1972
- HORN, F., JACKSON, R.: General mass action kinetics. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 47, 81–116, 1972
- HUO, X., JÜNGEL, A., TZAVARAS, A.: High-friction limits of Euler flows for multicomponen systems. To appear in *Nonlinearity*, 2019. arXiv:1810.08225
- HUTRIDURGA, H., SALVARANI, F.: Maxwell–Stefan diffusion asymptotics for gas mixtures in non-isothermal setting. *Nonlinear Anal.* 159, 285–297, 2017
- 36. HUTRIDURGA, H., SALVARANI, F.: On the Maxwell–Stefan diffusion limit for a mixture of monatomic gases. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.* **40**, 803–813, 2017
- JÜNGEL, A.: The boundedness-by-entropy method for cross-diffusion systems. *Nonlinearity* 28, 1963–2001, 2015
- 38. JÜNGEL, A.: Entropy Methods for Diffusive Partial Differential Equations. BCAM SpringerBriefs, 2016
- JÜNGEL, A., LEINGANG, O.: Convergence of an implicit Euler Galerkin scheme for Poisson–Maxwell–Stefan systems. Adv. Comput. Math. 45, 1469–1498, 2019
- JÜNGEL, A., STELZER, I.V.: Existence analysis of Maxwell–Stefan systems for multicomponent mixtures. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 45, 2421–2440, 2013
- MARION, M., TEMAM, R.: Global existence for fully nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems describing multicomponent reactive flows. J. Math. Pures Appl. 104, 102–138, 2015
- 42. MAXWELL, C.: On the dynamical theory of gases. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.* 157, 49–88, 1866
- 43. MIELKE, A., HASKOVEC, J., MARKOWICH, P.: On uniform decay of the entropy for reaction–diffusion systems. J. Dyn. Differ. Eqs. 27, 897–928, 2015
- 44. MIELKE, A.: Uniform exponential decay for reaction–diffusion systems with complexbalanced mass-action kinetics. In: GUREVICH, P., HELL, J., SANDSTEDE, B., SCHEEL, A. (eds.) *Patterns of Dynamics PaDy 2016*, vol. 205, pp. 149–171. Springer Proceedings in MathematicsSpringer, Cham 2018
- 45. PENROSE, R.: A generalized inverse for matrices. Camb. Philos. Soc. 51, 406-413, 1955
- PIERRE, M., SUZUKI, T., UMAKOSHI, H.: Global-in-time behavior of weak solutions to reaction-diffusion systems with inhomogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition. *Nonlin*ear Anal. 159, 393–407, 2017
- 47. PIASECKI, T., SHIBATA, Y., ZATORSKA, E.: On the isothermal compressible multicomponent mixture flow: the local existence and maximal  $L_p - L_q$  regularity of solutions. arXiv.1903.09767

- OSTROWSKI, L., ROHDE, C.: Compressible multi-component flow in porous media with Maxwell-Stefan diffusion. arXiv:1905.08496
- 49. SERRE, D.: *Matrices. Theory and Applications*, 2nd edition, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 216. Springer, New York, 2010
- 50. SHIM, S.: Long-time properties of prey-predator system with cross-diffusion. *Commun. Korean Math. Soc.* **21**, 293–320, 2006
- SHINAR, G., FEINBERG, M.: Concordant chemical reaction networks and the speciesreaction graph. *Math. Biosci.* 241, 1–23, 2013
- 52. STEFAN, J.: Über das Gleichgewicht und Bewegung, insbesondere die Diffusion von Gemischen. *Sitzungsberichte Kaiserl. Akad. Wiss. Wien* **63**, 63–124, 1871
- TANG, B.Q.: Close-to-equilibrium regularity for reaction-diffusion systems. J. Evol. Eqs. 18(2), 845–869, 2018
- 54. TAYLOR, R., KRISHNA, R.: Multicomponent Mass Transfer. Wiley, New York 1992
- WEN, Z., FU, S.: Global solutions to a class of multi-species reaction-diffusion systems with cross-diffusions arising in population dynamics. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 230, 34– 43, 2009
- WOLFF, O.E.: Method and apparatus for compressing vaporous or gaseous fluids isothermally. U.S. Patent No. 4,027,993, 1977
- 57. WESSELINGH, J., KRISHNA, R.: Mass Transfer in Multicomponent Mixtures. Delft University Press, Delft 2000
- ZAMPONI, N., JÜNGEL, A.: Analysis of degenerate cross-diffusion population models with volume filling. *Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré – Anal. Non-Linear* 34, 1–29, 2017. (Erratum: 34 (2017), 789–792.)

ESTHER S. DAUS & ANSGAR JÜNGEL Institute for Analysis and Scientific Computing, Vienna University of Technology, Wiedner Hauptstraße 8–10, 1040 Wien, Austria. e-mail: esther.daus@tuwien.ac.at

> Ansgar Jüngel e-mail: juengel@tuwien.ac.at

> > and

BAO QUOC TANG Institute of Mathematics and Scientific Computing, University of Graz, Heinrichstrasse 36, 8010 Graz, Austria. e-mail: quoc.tang@uni-graz.at

(Received February 27, 2018 / Accepted July 25, 2019) Published online August 1, 2019 © The Author(s) (2019)